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Ruth Young was Coverly’ s s e c re ta r y  throughout the period of  

the r e g i s t r a t i o n  d i f f i c u l t i e s .  ?*hen I in te rro g a te d  Mr. S h i r r e l l  

about the r e g i s t r a t i o n  he asked Miss Young, "who now 沿orks f 〇i* him 

in Chicago, to give me her impressions. ¥feie-sfee-^i^ We talked in 

a ro6m by ou rselves .  ,Mr. S h i r r e l l  was not presents Miss Young 

had very l i t t l e  s p e c i f i c  information and roughly outlined the 

administrativ-e d i f f i c u l t i e s  as follows'.

.In the f i r s t  p l a c e ,  sL.e said  th at  the Tule Lake representa~  

t i v e  a t  the p r e - r e g i s t r a t i o n  TA-ashington conference ^did not 

attend,  a l l  the meetings and came back with a complete misunder­

standing of vhat ^the r e g i s t r a t i o n  meant and what i t  was intended 

to  d o . ” He was ccmplet ly vague as to 尬 ietlxer r e g i s t r a t i o n  was .a 

\7RA or  a S e l e c t i v e  Service  measure and h is  lack  of knowledge on 

th is  p o in t ,  transm itted  to Coverly and o th e rs ,  was re f le c te d  

throughout the subsequent course o f  a c t io n .

In the saeond place ,just before r e g i s t r a t i o n  a c i r c u l a r  

l e t t e r  was received  at Tule Lake which said  th a t  r e g i s t r a t i o n  was 

compulsory, th at  i n te r f e r  nee wi th r e g i s t r a t i o n  would jeopardize  

the war e f f o r t ,  and th at  e:：:p a t r i a t i o n  or r e p a t r i a t i o n  were the 

only a l t e r n a t i v e s  to  r e g i s t r a t i o n . (エn Washington t h is  l e t t e r  

must be s e c u r e d . ) On the b asis  of th is  l e t t e r  the members of the 

Tule Lake s t a f f  concluded erroneously th at  r e g i s t r a t i o n  was a 

S e l e c t i v e  Service  order ra th e r  than a order ,  This inference  

led ,  of course,  to mucli of the ad m in is trat ive  blundering that 

followed.

In "the third p l a c e , Miss Young expressed her b e l i e f  th a t  in 

re c e ip t  of incomplete information ana holding erroneous impressions  

Coverly ¥/as unable to t e l l  the con皿 unity in understanable terms 

what r e g i s t r a t i o n  was and wliat r e g i s t r a t i o n  meant. Added to the
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f a c t  that he possessed inadequate information was Mr. Coverlyf s

natural d isp o s itio n  to t e l l  the community a ■ minimum of informa-
an

tion and 名 e h is  in disp osition  to use/e:；; tensive educational program 

■ within the camp, iilong the ŝ ime l i n e ,  he did not： take the 

Caucasian s t a f f  into h is  coniidence and d i d ' not discuss with them 

the points on v/liich he was, unclear or on which, g e n e r a l l y , the 

s t a f f  might have been h e lp fu l .

In the fourth  p l a c e , Mr. Coverlyf s adm inistration  during 

the r e g i s t r a t i o n  period suffered from his  usual ad m in is trat ive  

h a b i t s tば 。 虎 1  ノ 初 丨 Miss Young said t h t t  many 

people including Mayeda, Fa th er  Dai and Yamashita of the planning

二

Coverly 访  as hard to see and hard to t a l k  to and re f  usee to defer  

to the judgment of those that he did s e e .

GoverlyT s announc'em-ant that exp atriation  and re p a tr ia tio n  

were the only a l t e r n a t iv e  to r e g i s t r a t i o n  started the unfortunate  

rush for rep atriatio n  and expatriation forms.

MV7hen the trouble came i t  a l l  went off  v îth a bang and no­

body could stop i t .  Evei^/tiiing Mr. Coverly did was too l a t e .

The i/vhole issue became one of the people v.ersus the administration  

and to most people r e g i s tr a t i o n  or 11011-regi  stration  had nothing to 

do with l o y a l  or n o n - l o y a l t y . n
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Interview with Elmer Shirr ell, Tuesday, Sept* 7,1943 '

ON THE RELATION OF THE TULE LAKE WRA STAFF WITH THE ABJY UNIT S T A T I O N ^
THERE

When I first mentioned Capt* 'Jattereon* s name, Mr. Shirrell 8eid9 "That 

lousy bastard.M

'mien I was first hired by the 1SRA and first given authority over Tule Lake, 

one of the strongest orders given to me wae that, under any and all circum­

stance s9 I had to get along with the Military personnel stationed at the camp* 

This was on© of the strongest points made by Mr* Fryer in the early conversa-

tions I had with him* I tried conscientiously to live up to this order and

failed for the good reasons that I lahall outline later* One thing I imae- 

diately did— and this was one of the few very strict orders I made— was that 

all the relationships between the Army and the HIRA would be handled by Jacoby

and 野self only and by absolutely no one else• エ  almost fired Ted Waller once

for getting into an argument with the sergeant. I continuously emphasized at 

staff meetings that no matter #iat the Arny personnel did it was no8S bueines- 

of WRA personnel* I insisted that our people refrain from any criticism of

Arny personnel action， and エlived up to this rule myself*

M Bu*t "there was no bunch of people "tha*fc mor© d©SBrv©d cAriticisni frost *the 

captain down to the meanest private. Captain Patterson was no fit representa­

tive of the United States Arny and his camp all semblances of Army dis­

cipline* The captain was drunk at virtually every hour he was off duty and 8fi 

during many m  duty hours. Hardly a day went by during which he was no suffer­

ing from a hangover. His men were also frequently drunk or suffering the 

after effects of drunkenees and there was hardly a Monday morning ^ien enough 

men could be mustered to put out a full guard detail. The camp was dirty, the
細 s halls were run badly, no 代が1 似 卿  wilix respect to military court辦  or

uniforms were enforced and the men, generally, reflected the captain's ovm

disgraceful state
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MOne might think that Patterson thought his job a sort of holiday from 

the way he ran his camp. Much to the contrary, however, he took his duties

His very jitteriness made both his job and job more difficult. As & 

method of inflating his own importance, Patterson made many speeches to

danger of the Japanese and the ^reat burden upon his shoulders and he9hims6lf9 

added greatly to our difficult relations with the people in the surrounding 

communities* At one time for example, Patterson addressed legionnaires at 

Klamath Falls and there the gist of his remarks was 'I'm glad to be here to 

get acquainted with you because I never know when 1*11 have a rebellion on ay 

hands and when 1*11 need you for reenforcements. * At another time, we dis­

covered in the «l censorship of packages that a man had been se&t a buteher 

knife. I investigated and found that the person receiving the knife was a 

cook and I did not think it unusual for such a person to want to use his own 

tools* Patters on> however, ought otherwise* In a speech before another 

legion a few days later, he declared that he had discovered a 油 0le crate of 

large butcher knives being smuggled into the camp. All this of course scared 

the people in the surrounding territories to death.

nPatter&on and his men directly added to our internal difficulties too*

It was not easy, for example, to explain to the ^MiJ^colonists nfey soldiera 

of the Uiioed States Army could be dru&k on the post when no liquor was allowed 

the cdonists* Or why the soldiers could hunt ducks and geese both in and out 

of season* But more directly Patterson wasted a g

To take in an extreme example, One day Patterson w  rode me in a jeep

to a meadow about a mile from *the outskirts of the colony* It was completely 

removed from the camp and more than a mile also from the nearest guard tower.

Legion posts, Rotary clubs and other groups. In thK^talk^ he emphasized the

plaining to me of vay laxity and telling me of the
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Patterson told me he wanted to erect another guard tover in this m e d d o w . 1 

afeked why in the name of Gpd this was necessary since we were so far removed 

from the camp and since other guard towers covered the approaches to this spot. 

I said that Patterson was responsible for external security and that X did not 

object to a guard tower this spot but ths.x^feimpi^JC/waated to know why one 

was necessary. Patterasn replied that he agreed that guard tower would be of 

no asBistaoce in guarding the colonists but that the meadow was a perfect land­

ing spot for enemy planes and that it would b© easy for planes to land ther白 

with men and amunitioiiy easy for "the occupaats of**thepl8aaestorushtlie.aniu* 

nition center of the M.P. unit, and easy for the enemy 'to liquidate the guards 

and to arm the Japs in less than half an hour,*

**S〇 far as I know Patter6011 dropped the guard tower idea completely* X 

did not object to his fanciful thinking so nuch9 in itself* Rather I did object 

in the face of the fact that he performed his obvious duties so badly. For ex­

ample, he retained a very poor patrol system on the roads approaching Tule 

Lake* His l|€̂ |irtenants were badly instructed and th^r themselves were ineffi­

cient men. Early in the history of the project we discovered that three of the 

guards stationed at the front gate were completely illiterate when one of the 

Caucasian staff was allowed to enter when h© showed his Standard Oil credit 

card by mistake* We tested these guards for several days and I got numbers of 

my staff through the guards on the most absurd slips of p^)er•一 one fellow came 

through on a bill he had just received from en AtJaletic Glub in San Francisco. 

When I told Patterson that the men examiniBg the entrance passes couldnH read 

he called me a liar but later came back and apologized to me. He also asked

for some member of my teaching staff toto insてfeuct these
me to arrange
j.,___ v̂ ,，« writing;, and I did make some

following th© Tokyo raid, 

> in Klamath Falls* The

rmming 切 町  〇ffice t0 tel1office to tell me that henext day Patterson came
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that the same group of vigilantes was getting ready to march on Tule Lake

*to shoot the place up*« He wanted me to call in all the people from the faz*m 

and close up the caicp as *fcî bi"tly as possible* I asked hiai what h© would do if 

a group max ched on Tule and he said he didn*t know because he was not

stationed there to fight white men. This is the first time ihat I blew up be-

fore Ca.p*fe&in Pa.*t*tersoxi* X told him tha.'t his duty included *the prctecfeion of 

the Japanese within "the camp just ae oiuch as the protection of Caucasians out­

side the camp* I laid down the law on no uncertain terms, and I refused to put 

•fche camp in an uproar by closing up farm activities* I told Patterson that 

external guarding was his sole responsibiliiiy and *tha*t he had to protect tho 

colonists agaifist extra-legal action no master what the price*

**jn contrasli "to his abject f©a.r a.*t *this Pa.*fc*t6rson was high and mighty

when he made deisaiids on me to b© more strict with the colonists* He was always

belly-aching about the use of automobiles and trucks by the colonists. Whenever 

one of his guards caught a colonist outside the line, the
or people would be loaded into a jeep and the jeep would come sailing up to
e administration building with the siren on full force and the colonist would 

W l e d  out and turned over to Jacoby or myself. Pattereon always complained 

at we never punished these people, but he never m d e  inquiries to find out 

iat we actually did. He never got tired of telling me of the potential ex- 

osion that might take place, but it see^d to me that almost everything he 

.d helped to create an atmosphere in vfcicb an explosion might take place.

«The matter of the mail censorship is a good case xn p o i n t y *  Anay 

.ucks took mail between the camp and Tula Lake regularly. One day the post-

一 他 一 仙 … “ 一 一 て 7 = ご ：二

onger accep, .  ：：：：： gue8.es froffi

n , she said that Corporal Wilson had gxv n
he e n v e l o p e ^  ^  ^  p〇stm8ieg e n e r a l - d
^ d i a t e l y ^ t  s,e was ta, ^  p〇stal

J〇PP〇ral Wilson. X ̂  .er that s，e
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and she agreed to forget about the order from Copporal Wilson*

I later got Corporal Wilson on the carpet and, after first denying talking to

the PostmistBBSs about it, he admitted it was his own idea and apdlogized9
begging me not to take the matter up with Captain Patterson* Later Wilson 

an
■took an open orAopened letter to Patterson which con*taiiae<i the mimeographed 

map of Tule Lake distributed to all coiwlonists on their arrival#

This happened during Rachford*s period on the project and Patterson stomped

into Rachford*s office to tell us that he was inetituting an immediat© een'

sorship of all mail of colonists in order to prevent the leakage of subver-

sive or of dangerous information* I read to him from the WEIA, regulation which 

specifically defined ホ ^ ^  uf (ium̂ ui ulixpr and told him bluntly that he 

w^s disobeying both m k  regulations and the agreer^nts between the WEA and the 

Army. He said he was going ahead wi13a the censorship anyway and left. Rach- 

ford immediately called Fryer in San Francisco who promised to go to work on 

settling the matter with Patterson's superiors who were stationed in Salt Lake 

Qity, Several days past, the mail began to pile up and I lied to th© community 

saying there was no censorship* I did this because we had so many other press­

ing problems at this time and because I was sure the censorship would be lifted 

before another day had passed. Unfortunately it m s  10 d^rs before we got
actioru This action c _  after phone calls to Washington and 切  Salt Lake

City and apparently came directly from Washington. S k i ^ l l - h e ^  I heard the 

order was coming but Patterson a day later came to me and told me that he hii，- 
self was lifting the censorship because he had founa|t impossible to administer

since he had no people who could read Japanese.
respite his drunkenees and his inefficiency and stupid fears, I n ^ g e d

, u ffiintionshit) with Patterson until an incidentto maintain at least workable relationship wxt,
. w mhflr At first I even went out on parties with the captain that happened in November. At fxrsx x
A 4 T like to associate with sops I soon activelyand his wife but since I don t like xo as • ‘

+ t possibly could that would bring me m  
dodged as m n y  social engagements as I p
i L  ̂  P a U e . 0 .  PaUer6〇n > ，，eC〇.  ^  ^  〇a . 〇n -
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and his wife wh«i& because Carson had been taking the M,P* Bick call in the 

absence of an Arorjr doctor on the post. One day in November Dr. and Mrs*

Carson were giving a little dinner party for two evacuee doctors and "their

wives in the hospital wing that the Carsons were living in at this While

they were eating Patterson and a visiting officer, both dead drunk, knocked Oil 

the door* Mrs. Carson answered and knowing Patterson*s non-fraternization 
attitude, she tried to keep them from entering until the dinner was over and 

'the evacue6 doctors had lef't* Mrs* Carson 'told m© that sh© had had plewty of 

experience with drunken iaen in her life but that Captain Patterson became

•just too da皿led amorous* • She had *to call Dr* Garsonj and h© managed to get

the two men to the quarters of a nurse who was away at the time, Wiiixe Pat­

terson and his pal waited for "the colonists to l©av©> they virtually wrecked 

fev©x*y pi©ce of fumiture in "ths inirs0*s apar'tinsii'fc*

"After this I was throug^i trying to maintain any amicable relations with 

the captain* I got the whole matter off my chest the next time I saw Frayer 

and really told him my complete story. Not long© after this (and I don»t know 

whether Fryer had aryt|iihg to do with it) an inspection group unexpectedly 

appeared and caught Patterscai's camp in its usual state of disorderliness.

told my wife that they had severely reprimanded the captain for 

the appearance and demeanor of the men as well as for the disposition of guards 

and for his own appearance. A short time later, of course, Patterson was

transferred
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ON WHY MR. SEIRHELL 7/AS FIRED

nIn December the grape vine from San i 'rancisoo informed me 

th at  エ "was to be put to work on re se t t le m e n t  and th at  エ i/as to  be 

replaced by Harvey ^overly at Tule Lake, エ 前 as not surprised  

ther- fore  when エ received  a c a l l  from lii*. -£?ryer asking me to  oome 

do?m to  San Fra n cisco  immediately* エ didn’ t  see ^ryer u n t i l  a f t e r  

lunch and he was very r e lu c ta n t  to oome to the point .  F i n a l l y ,  

a f t e r  much p raise  o f  my work a t  T u le , he said that  in order to  

make 1 s r e l a t i o n s  witli the Army more s m o o t h ,エ 诏 as to be r e ­

placed by Coverly.  The only c r i t i c i s m  of.my adm in istrat ion  he

^ t t e r s o n .  X , e PX ie ,  X r e a l i z e a  M,. .〇o . e , l y had s e M o . i t ,

r ight  s and tha t i f  he wanted "the Tule Lake job he should have i t *  

Mr. ^ryer was highly Indignant and immediately-called M r . しoverly  

into the o f f i c e .  Then both of them \rere' indignant tog eth er .

cause he was out of a job ^ i t h  the c lo s in g  up of the reg ion al  

o f f i c e s  and because lie d id n ^  vs/ant to go to  Washington. Mr.

Coverly p rote s te d  f o r  more than an hour that the s h i f t  ?ms only 

f o r  the go od of the admin is t  rat  ion and th a t  my removal -from Tule 

Lake r e f l e c t e d  no d i s c r e d i t  upon my "work but r a th e r  was simply a 

means taken to f u r t h e r  cement r e l a t i o n p h i p s i i t h  the Array. In­

deed, エ was to ld  that  i t  a l l  in the nature of a promotion for

mei. エ would fee-kei have an opportunity to help in «rats biggest  

jo b , re s e t t l e m e n t . I understood the Japanese b e t te r  than anyone

s i s s - r i : r  f l r e a "'
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Chicago he didn^ say a G-〇d damn thing about the necessity for 
pacifying the Army as the reason for my dismissal from Tule Lake 
In fact, he advanced no reason whatsoever for it• And this fur­
ther strengthened 切hat エ liad knov?n all along; namely, that Fryer 
had felt the necessity of finding a job for his buddy Coverly 
and my job at Tule was the jcb Coverly wanted since it
was well paying and sine e it kept him on the west coast. My 
relations with Patterson T/?as just a peg to hang an ̂ affair on.
The grapevine gave me this from several directions and every 
action of Fryer, Coverly, and especially Myeで indicated the
truthfulness
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01T REPORTS RECEIVED BY MR. SEIRRSLL R肌ATIVS TO WHY HARVEY 
COYEREY WAS A FAILURE AS PROJECT DIRECTOR AT TULE LAKE

!,Many of my friends, of course^ have written rae to, give me 
reports on Mr. GoverlyTs troubles and the reasons for these 
troubles. These reports including many very detailed ones from 
Ruth Young #>〇 "was first my secretary at Tule,then CoverlyVs and 
who is n〇Ŷ my secretary at Ghicago^^^Tyzea Coverly^ positl on 
and related his personal habits very closely to his administrative 
difficulties.

”In the first place Coverly was interested exclusively in 
Tule Lake as a agency to administer and was. completely disinter­
ested in the people of Tule Lake,, as people. His original error 
was not to bring his ^ife or children ^ith him, The absence of

the colonists.
”エn the second place Coverly time after time offended, the 

colonists socially* He did not acknowledge invitations that were 
sent him and refused to even attempt to conform to the accepted 
social manners of the community. エ had reported to me one inci­
dent ^hen an invitation for a rat he r large party was addressed to 
Mr. Coverly, the invitation ^ including Iv：r. and Mrs. Coverly.
The colonistデwho sent the invitat ion, of course, knew that Mrs. 
Coverly was not on the pro ject. Mr. Coverly did not acknowledge 
the invitation at all, but he told Ruth Young that he would 
attend. Huth told the colonists., When the time for the dinner 
came， Mr. Coverly showed up and there was a place set next to 
him for Mrs. Coverly- The colonist 4 4 4 4 f sat no one in
the empty seat and my informants tell me that Mr. Goveriy was
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v i s i b l y  embarrassed*

”In "tile t t i ird  pl& c e , and t h i s  i  s probably one of the most 

important of* Mr. CoverlyT s s o c i a l  d i f f i c u l t i e s ,  he vra s scared of  

the Ja p a n e se . Scared to death. He demonstrated t h i s  very e a r ly  

when he had a l l  the lo c k s  changed in  h is  l i v i n g  Quarters on h is  

a r r i v a l .  エt  was a l l  the worse because i t  stood in  c o n t r a s t  to the  

f a c t  th a t  Mrs. S h i r r e l l  and エ had never even used the keys to our 

house. When Roy Miura and Coffee^ Oshima came to see  me( s e v e r a l  

weeks ago th ey  to ld  me that  C ov er ly1 s f e a r  was so apparrent at  

Council  meetings th at  i t  Yms almost laugliable .  And the people in  

the Council  co n t in ou s ly  played up t h i s  f e a r ， Miura said that  he 

h im se lf  had beguri thQ "bai t ing of  Coverly in t i i i s  fa  si-ion and mas 

so —ry f o r  i t  a f terw ard s  because i t  v«?as taken up so enthus i a s t i c ^ l l y  

by the o th e rs  and as the cause o f  g re a t  d iscom fort  to  Mr. Coverly. 

Members of  the C〇unc； i l  and the cojumunity cont in ou s ly  joked about 

i t  among themselves.

T,0n t  he a d m in is t r a t iv e  side Coverlyf s main tro u b le  v/as th a t  

he t r i e d  to use U ss accept ed a d m in is t r a t iv e  procedures and 

as a p art  of t h i s  program refused to  see any person who could "be 

pushed o f f  on one of h is  a s s i s t a n t s .  Ruth Young in  her  l e t t e r s  

to  me "told me lio切 m echanically  Mr. Coverly pushed o f f

h i s  c a l l e r s ,  ^or example, ' i f  somebody wanted to  see Coverly about 

a m a t t e r , i t  was n e ce ssa ry  to e x p la in  i t  a l l  to  Ruth Young f i r s t .

No m atter  wilat ohe emergency, Coverly would see  no one b e fo re  Miss 

Young to ld  him of  th e  purpose and. the nature of the  c a l l .  The 

n e c e s s i t y  of d ivulging t h i s  type of in form ation  to a s e c r e t a r y  was 

in  i t s e l f  d iscouraging .  (N ote : Hiss Young c o l la b o r a te d  t h i s  in  

almost the  same wordswfeeft l a t e r  the same d a y . ) Furtherm ore ,

Coverly took no cognisance o f  p e r s o n a l i t i e s  or  f r i e n d s h i p s .  I f
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the persona c a l l i n g  wanted to t a l k  about soinetliing and i f  Coverly  

thought i t  f e l l  within the proYince of the a s s i s t a n t  d i r e c t o r ,

-Hino rafts riiTAntftd t o  the a s s i s t a n t  d i r e c t o r , even thaxgh fe©

Jacoby or Fleming. Finally, if Coverly consented to see a person, 
then that person had to ?»?ait his turn on Coverlyf s , appointment
schedule and i*t was not unusual fo r  the person to hav孕 to wait

for several day. Only the gravest emergencies could ups^t the 
appointment; schsdul© and even n16111bers of G〇yerl3rT̂  own stafx 
frequently could not see him mtien thê  ̂wanted to.n
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ON SHIRRELL^ ATTITUDE T〇m.RD EIS STAFF

l a t e r  interview エ hope to discuss "vyith Mr， S h i r r e l l  at.'

some length his persci^uj problems at Tule Lake. The f o i l ⑽ ing is  

a b r i e f  word he volunteered in a general  discussion iw had in his  

o f f i c e  on September 7j
”Sy Fryer  was a good man and エ l iked him but he ha6 one 

outstanding f a u l t .  He 前 s ttie 卿 :r s t  judge of c h a r a c te r  エ have

ever met in  my l i f e .  His appointments ^ere one 〇:： my biggest  

headaches. Th4Ŝ  a s s i s t a n t  d i r e c t o r  Ŷ as the best  example of t h i s .  

He was c a l le d  ray a s s i s t a n t  d i r e c t o r  but he ?jas only th at  in t i t l e  

His biggest  s e r v i c e  was to keep me busj g e t t in g  him out of 

t ro ub le .  I did not t r u s t  h is  judgment a t  a l l .  ^ 9 ^

were two other F ry e r  appointees Mho turned out to be oompletely 

sour. A ctu a l ly ,  Fleming was my a s s i s t a n t  d i r e c t o r  and he ^as one 

of the soundest men I have ever met. I re fe rre d  to h is  judgment 

-a l l  the t im e .n
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On the relations of the Project with San Francisco and 
Washington*

The points set forth below are brought together from 
various phases of the four hour interview* At first, Mr, 
SMrrell was disposed to deal only in peraD nalities. As 
the evening progressed, however, it was possible to direct 
M s  attention to larger issues*

Mr. Shirrell1s first complaint was the fact that many 
of the decisions handed down from Washington and San Francis­
co were made from the viewpoint of forestalling adverse public 
opinion and vL thout sufficient consideration for the conseq­
uences of the decisions on life within the centers• HThe 
decision not to allow Issei to participate on the Community 
Councils is an example of a public relations decision as op­
posed. to a project decision. It was especially bad at Manzanar 
where a Council, partly Issei, had already been formed and where 
it was necessary to fire the Issei from the Council. Nash said 
the consequences in the project there were appalling. At Tule, 
we had already startea a temporary council but had only two 
Issei 11 0 1ding office. We met the Washington directive on self- 
government only half way; that is, we didn^ fire ̂ J>ur Issei 
council men, we si mply made them temporary council men and they 
stayed in office until our permanent self government was organ­
ized. This only softened the original blow. It did nothing to 
mitigate the embarrassment we continuously had as the result of 
the non-participation of the Issei. Our Council was always a 
weak kneed sister, taking its cue from the Issei block meetings.
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It was only after the OWI incident that the Council amounted 
to anything. (Cf♦ below on OWI incident.)

11 Another example of a terrible public relations decision 
was the one tha七 barred all reporters from Tule Lake for the 
first sixty days or so of its existence and that absolutely pro­
hibited me from talking before any group or club. This, I think, 
originated from the San Francisco bunch who were scared to death. 
But they didnft realize that Tule Lake was the biggest news that 
Northern California ever had. And by barring reporters they 
started us off on the worst possible foot* In the absence of 
word from us, the papers picked up all sorts of rumors and gos­
sip and printed it --- and of course it was all unfavorable.
They would have printed anything we gave them. Instead, as a 
consequence of the policy from San Francisco and Washington, we 
gave them absolutely nothing and they printed every other thing 
they could get which was naturally all that our critics were say­
ing. Before the first group of evacuees arrived, I managed to 
persuade Fryer (and it took a hell of a lot of work) to let me 
hold an 1open house * -—  to let people drive through the place 
and let them see it. Fryer consented — only after establish­
ing the most rigid sorts of rules, that is, no cars could stop, 
no pictures could be taken, no questions would be answered, etc* 
We advertised our open iiouse a little and had the most amazing 
response imaginable. A solid line of cars -- from as far away 
as Eugene, Oregon, drove tlarough the project from early in the 
morning until late at night* fhere was hardly a break in the 
line all day. A few pictures were taken from moving cars for 
which I caught plenty of hell later on from Fryer• But the



2nd Shirre11 3
whole thing demonstrated to me the tremendous interest there 
was in the Project. To me it was tmbelievabl© that, after such 
a demonstration, San Francisco could retain a no publicity at­
titude for the Project. But they did* And we could do absolute­
ly nothing* Until more than two months after the project was 
opened, not a single word could be said officially and publically 
unless it came from San Francisco.1*

Mr, SMrrell 1 s second complaint with respect to the regional 
and Washington offices was that it was ,fBiost of the time down­
right impossible to get ANY decision#M uThis was the most con­
tinuous souc© of trouble to us and I think my greatest single 
worry, fhere were many times that a decision — - no matter what 
it waa 一 - would have forestalled trouble. But my letters would 
go unanswereu and even my telegraans would receive no replies.
When I got desperate, I would phone Fryer. Then I might get 
something in a couple of weeks.M

As examples of the inability to get any definite decisions, 
Mr. Shirrell mentioned:

a* Glothinj; distribution. MIn the early days, WRA. 
received a lot of surplus clothing from CCG, the Army, and other 
sources. A quantity was distributed to each project and we gave 
it away to workers who needed it. W© didnft have any policy 
and didn*t even give keep accurate records of who got what. If 
a coal unloader needed overalls and we had them then he would 
get a pair — - and that * s all there was to it* When we ran out 
of the original allotment of clothes, we got permission from San 
Francisco and bought other stuff on the market -- especially 
work clothes and work shoes. When Myer was appointed and made 
his first swing through ishe projects, he was amazed to 丄earn that
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each project had a different system of giving away clothes and 
was alstmied at what might develop in the way of commxmity de­
mands after a clothing allotment precedent was set* So he call­
ed off all clothing allotments until a definite policy could be 
set. Well,I already had a quantity of work shoes in the Tule 
Lake warehouse for the men on the farm and I tried for weeks to 
get permission to distribute them, since they were badly needed 
But I couldi^t get any thing from San Francisco; I was told the 
whole thing would have to wait \mtil the August policy meetings* 
Protests did no good, I was just told to wait* Well, of course, 
the di0 0 situation is one of the things that set off the farns 
strike. It happened when we were supposed to be settling a pol­
icy on work clothes* Actually, however, the policy wasn*t set 
until almost a year latex*• When the strike came, Fryer prom- 
ised to back me up on tlie shoe deal and w© later distributed 
shoes because they were needed and deserved and without waiting 
for a national policy---which is what we should have done be­
fore the strike occurred* In all, I bet Washington changed its 
mind ten times on a clothing policy. Don*t miss that file in 
Washington*M

b* Liamber for Partitions in the apartments> HThis 
was one of the worst affairs of all and one that could have been 
entirely avoided at relatively low cost if WRA people in the 
regional and national offices had acted promptly In response to 
the needs of the project. In the little question and answer 
book distributed to evacuees when they were still at the Assembly 
Centers the statement was made that l\amber would be provided by 
WHA for both furniture and partitions* When the first colonists
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arrived, there was plenty of scrap liamber arotmd for them and 
everything was fine. But very shortly after the scrap was gone, 
new arrivals at Tule started coming around to my office to show 
me those lines that promised scrap lumber. I soon hated the sight 
of that damned little pamphlet* I t3a.ou.ght the colonists were
entirely right in their demand and told the regional office s o ---
which, incidentally, also agreed that the demand for lumber was 
a just one. But San Francisco did nothing. And all the project 
directors went to town on the problem in the August 〇〇 nferencea 
It was finally agreed that we would all make a survey of our part- 
ition and furniture lumber needs and that all the stuff would be 
ordered at one time. Well, it was September before all the est­
imates of need were in San Francisco* And it wasn*t until Sept­
ember 17 that bids were advertised. Time went by and, since I 
had kept the project abreast of events, pressure increased on me.
I kept the wires hot and, finally, in October, Cozzens told me 
that no bids 3iad been received* More time passed and it was de­
cided to readvertise for bids, this time through the army# Then, 
just about this time, we had priority difficulties, and the WPB 
refused to let us buy lumber for apartment partitions. But the 
WPB did approve the building of an auditorixun. I ordered enough 
lumber to have same left over for partitions. Even though I then 
had the lumber on hand, the WPB refused to let me give it to th© 
colonists. So the colonists stole it# By this time, even giving 
it away would have done little good. WRA had procrastinated so 
long that the colonists had entirely lost patience. And, more 
importantly, lost faith in the WRA. It was just one of those 
things that built up to make later troubles* Rapid action would
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have solved the whole thing easily*n
〇• The Schools* rrNothing was more messed up than the 

schools and no where was the cause so plainly the inability to 
make a straightforward decision* First the Regional offices was 
to buy books and supplies. Then the Project* Then the Regional 
office —  then I don*t know what. Lucy Adams had the Utopian 
idea that we had to work like a regular California school dis­
trict and that, as a result of this, the State of California 
Legislature, through special measures, would award us a per capita 
(school children) grant for the running of the schools that would 
amount to more than a $100,000 annually* I told Lucy frora 七he 
very beginning that she was crazy. But she kept at the monkey 
business, and consequently everything we did had to be governed 
by the regulations of a regular California School District. Fat­
ting this on top of Civil Service rules, the special regulations 
of the WRA, the peculiar conditions of Tule Lake, the difficulties 
of getting personnel anyway --- and you know what Lucy Adams did 
to xis • She made miles arid then had to break them —  but the 
trouble was that we never knew wlaat rules we could get her to 
break* Also Lucy loved conferences. She would drag Harkness 
and Fleming away from the project so often that it was a genuine 
hindrance to their work. And each time they would come back 
more and ]110re disgusted• They s aid there wotild "be plenty of talk 
and plenty of lofty ideas but no decisions and damn little prac- 
tical talk. Their disgust was so ffiarKed that Lucy just stopped 
coming to Tule Lake. I like Lucy perao nally and admire her tal­
ents, but she is certainly one of the world * 3 worst administratrs*
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Her inability to make decisions may not have been as noticeable 
as other things to the colonists but, administratively, it kept 
us in hot water all the time• Lucy still thinks that the California 
Legislature will recognize Tul© as a special school district and 
play Santa Claus to its beloved Japanese kids * 11

In the third place, Mr. Shirrell critieized regional and 
Washington officials because of their ignorance of project life 
and the special problems of project administration. ttfhe briglt 
boys in the offices wereintepested in building themselves up and 
in maintaining their reputations so that they could get good 
post war jobs; they weren^ especailly interested in improving 
camp conditions. But more important than this, they simply didn*t 
know atiling about camp conditions and many of the mistakes they 
made can be attributed directly to this ignorance* The slowness 
with which decisions were made is in large part the result of 
this ignorance. Unless you have wrestled with project problems 
you canft appreciate th© immediacy of what look like routine 
matters# Take the shoe distribution matter, for example• No 
one so far as I know denied that the farm workers needed shoes 
or denied that they should get shoes. Shoe distribution was 
postponed not because of any disagreement on the primary question 
of need but rather because of a secondary arg\iment on an admin­
istrative level, that is, on the question of HOW shoes and 
workers1 clothing should be distributed. This administrative 
tangle held up things for weeks. If the bright boys in Washington 
or San Francisco had realized how immediate the necessity for 
shoes was liow important their distribution was for the pea©
of the conmrunity as a whole then エ have no doubt we
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would have got more rapid decisions* As it was， the boys sa»t 
behind their desks and stalled. They did the same thing on the 
wood distribution and on twenty-five other things. Some time 
in a project should have been mandatory for every policy deter­
mining officer in WHA. After Sy Fryer tried out his hand as 
Project Director at Manzanar for a while h© was a hell of a lot 
more understanding*

In the fourth place, Mr. Shirrell complained of丨*tれe usual 
federal government fact that there was always a pip-squeak in 
Washington who had a veto power or at least a suspensive power 
over your decisions even though he had no idea of the kind of 
job you were doing or the type of thing you wanted done,,T 
Shirrell specifically referred here to matters of personnel 
classification and the nobstructiunistrt attitude of seme staff 
members of the U* S. Civil Service Commission* He said the wW^i-
ington check up** was the wcui?seH of all Pederal agencies but 
thought it was worse in WRA than in any other he knew.

Finally, Mr. Shirrell was critical of the manner in which 
M s  Tule Lake staff was chosen and the almost complete lack of 
control he exercised over the recruiting of the staff* (Cf be­
low for detail)
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ON THE TULE LAKE STAFF 
BEPOEB

MY FIRST TRIP TO Tule, to get construction underway, Fryer 

told me that I wofild have a free hand in choosing theb Tule staff, with 

the proviso that X would have to take fxatx some of 町 people from the pool 

of employees already hired by Eisenhower and Rowalt. The woifi. lsome* 

was the nigger in the woodpile. It meant pk practically 1 all̂ * and certaiiuy 

almost all of those that later caused trduble, I had to take Walter Chambers,

for example, as assistnat project director* was impossible --  a nice chap,

a politician, Tjut absolutely no Drains. After his four months temporary 

appointment was served out, I got rifl. of him* Since staffing was difficult 

anyway and since WRA salaries were considerably lov;er than salaries for the 

same type of work in other agencies, you canlt blame the San Francisco office 

for some of their mistakes. Throckmorton was one good man they hired. But 

among others that I had to take you can recognize most of the duds.*1 Amdng 

those named "by Mr Shirrell as being hired in S. F* and Washington werej 

Pilcher, Peck, Hiesse, Joe Hayes, Slattery, Kallam (an old friend of 

Cozzens)» Eastman (an acquaintance of Hachford.j Those whom Shirrell chose . 

himself include: Fleming, Jacoby, Prank Smith, Dr, Carson, Ken Harkness, Dr, 

Prancis, Mary Ann Robertson.M Ihad such a difficult time getting some of 

my own choices approved that I just had to give up and take what they gave 

me, l had so much to do and just didn*t have the time to spend in argument 

over the qualificationsof pessonnel.

WET JOE HATES BECAME ASSISTANT DIRECTOR

wWhen Rachford left and I h d to pick and assistant project director,

^ryer recommended taking him from the Project* At that time, Civil Service

rated the assistant project director's jo"b very low — and such people as

Fleming and Jacoby didnH want the jo"b* There were only three people available 
Cook, Niesse, and Hayes* I wasnft overjoyed at *nythe prospect of having
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any one of them. Actually i had no choice even sbuusx among the three

evils* Fryer m l e d  out Cooke because he had not "been in govern ent

service long enough. Fryer ruled out Niesse because of personality difficulties.
either

I was not opposed to adddofccof these decisions. But I was sic^ when this
even though Hayes had worked efficiently for Pryer before.
left Hayes as the choice， So was Mrs, Shirrell. She almost cried.

Hayes had come in ad Chief of Transportation and had done a good job. He needed

a great deal of '̂ guidance but he had lots of energy and diftive* But he arV丨，

possessedxx no diplomacy, no discretion and no tact. I knew he would be 

a poor assistant. Ŝcixtoavscaix He served as a decent leg man but that is all*

He aslso served to get us in trouble more than once both with the 

appointed staff and with the colonists."

PBRSOMBL DimCULTIES

M0ne of the greatest mistakes ^ryer made was to hire men from

ther agencies who had worked aauivjitxx together and disliked each other.

Niesse, Slattery, and Hayes had all "been in soil conservation and they
time

hated "beach others guts. This hatred came out after time in staff meetings,

of my administrative difficulties were with Niesse who was slow^ 

oveiwcautious, lost his temper easily, and was the vainest man I ever saw*

wAs for f a m  personnel difficulties, the seat of the trouble was 

that Kallam wanted Eastman1s job and Eastman was a lousy choice for the job 

he held* When ^ry, the first agricjilture head left, Kallajn worked his head off 

as acting head* He was very disappointed when Eastman was put in charge over 

him* Eastman was a mild man and a very poor administrator, having no idea 

how to handle KallamU enmity. (Mrs Shirrellj »0ffjg the record, Eastman was the 

most henpecked man I ever saw; his wife was a pure hell catw) 一

became so much worse when we brought in Hudson to take charge of marketing.
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Kallam fought continuously with Hudson and Eastman didnft do a damn thing 

about it. He would make absolutely no decisions. Finally, I just had to 

fire Eastman*

-The whole affair of Pilcher and the mess halls was a nasty one

and one that âaaix caused me a great deal of regret♦ Peck had "been steward

for the contractor who had built Tule Lake, When Stultz resigned, we hired

Pecla. Other than the fact that he was a very heavy drinker, he was a good

fcc steward*Pilcher came as assistant steward from WCC5A, I was told he had "been

at the Salinas center, but actually he had been at Walegra and had "been very

unpopular with the cooks there* If I had known that heax had been from Walegra

I am pretty sure エ would have "been smart enough tu not to hire him. But

^ilcher was always more sinned against than the sinner. The same chefs who
Center

had had trouble with him in the Assembly fiba*x3bcvx set out to get him,

Their strike was very clever "because they ulled it the day Mr, Myer arrived 

on the project and did nothing more than switeh all the meal hour around.

The committee "brought a long petition, signed by practically all the people 

at Tule, listing long complaints and asking for Pilcher1s resignation* We held 

open hearings to examine the validity of the complaints* There were plenty 

of petty things, but not a single valid reason of sufficient importance 

to fire the man. Actually, Pilcher had given me ±±xx his resignation even 

"before the hearings were held. I refused to see the strike committee the 

dâ r they wanted to see me, that is, the day Myer was on the project* But I did 

see them the next day and I told them what I thought, that I was accepting 

Pilcher1s resignation but that it was a crime to do so and that I was breaking 

Pilcher*s heart to do so. And I still believe I was right in what I said.

The complaints were all petty things.

MG,enerally. it "became clear to me at ^ule Lake that no man

was any good unless he had, in addition to all the other
things neceesary
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for an administrator, atii a special talent for getting along with the colonists 

Pilcher was a good case in poilit, vras a good assissstant steward* ut 

he just couldn*t get along with the Japanese, There were others in the same 

category* Meade in the construction department was in the same boat*

He was a tfery good construction man, perhaps the best one kKVkstivrwxv we 

ever had* But the colonists got the idea that he considered them as 

inferior «*一"' and he had to leave the project. Rouner in the furniture factory 

was an even better example. He had visited the San Quentin prison furniture 

factory, as the best institutional set up in the country, just "before he had 

left for Tule* was xmcyx a very quiet man, and the colonists took this

as meaning that he didnlt like them. Actually he was enjoying his contacts 

so far as I know and I do know he vas doing a very good job in the organization 

of the factory. One day when things were going very much to his satisfaction 

he remarked that the system was lvery much like San Quentin,1 Prom that time, 

Rouner*s usefulness at the project ended, ^he colonists were definitely 

antagonisticaix, trouble followed, and Rouner left the project.

MDr ^arson1s trouble at the hospital was of a different character*

A bad character among the colonists, Dr, Harada, was the thorn in the side 

there. Carson was my choice and he did a swell job 一一 he even impacked all 

the medical supplies himself and from the very first day the project opened 

we had a working hospital* ^arson came to Tule only because he had 

liquidated his own practice and was waiting for a navji commisssion* I had 

known him since he wasxa kid and and I liked him and I still do* The story 

is absolutely untrue that Carson ever put a Caucasian nurses over the Japanese 

American doctors* That story started because of Dr, Harada1s enmity. Harada 

and the other Tule Lake doctor, Dr* Iki, were great enemies, akx had been

long before evacuation* Rachford had "been so impressed with Carson that when 

it came time for the Heart Mountain hospital to. "be set up he asked me to lend
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him Carson for a "brief period. Knowing that it would "be possible to leave

both Harada and Iki "behind, I told Carson to take one of them *•— * I didnlt

care which one. Carson took Iki and left HaracLa in charge of the hospital.

Harada didnlt like government red tape and he thought of himself as bei^g very

important as head of the hospital. He wanted to order some x±3tx supplies and

the head nurse, Miss G-raham, supplied him with the necessary requisitions.
of some things

Well, he ordered a huge pile of stuff  -- enough/1 was told "by Miss Graham

to last ns for ten years*h k x s3201k x When she brougjht me the requisitions

I jtxxxof course scaled it all down ----knowing that if I was worng that

Carson conld correct the situation when he returned, Harada blew up sky high. 

He went around the colony telling everyone that he had been made a subordinate

— 一

«HY PAYROLLS WERE SLOW

wThe answer to the slow pa/ rolls lies in all the defects of 

government kjex beaurocracy in wartime. The necessity of checking and re 

checking all points of evacuee laoor time,rates,name spelling,etc---- 

was a laborious process in itself* Then Niesse, working more slowly than 

anyone else I ever saw, slowed up thiings considerablyj he was another one 

of Cy Fryerls children and I finally kicked him out, Then the San 

Szasssi: Francisco disbursing office was completely swamped "by the payroll 

orders of all the new wartime agencies and they held up the payrolls for 

a long time. This was only in the early days though. Later, I managed to 

have our payr oils routed through the Portland rather than the San Francisco 

disbursing office and at one time Portland was achieving twenty-

four hour service for us. And we managed to speed things up on the projet, 

too* It was only the first few months that were really bad*
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TULE U K E  TROUBLES

MThe book (Administrative Instructions) said that only in the 

greatest emergency was the militray to be called into the center for 

policing duties* There were no*greatest emergencies*at Tule Lake and that 

is the reason xkagc why I never asked the military to intervene in center life, 

Sbl»±m :x The internal center was my business, the external guarding theirs. 

The military stOTxsntijrv has been called into a center once at that was

at Manzanar, Y〇u know ®h.at happenedas there.

HMy system in times of trouble was simple* I didntt get excited*

I always spoke slowly and* in a low voice, I let the committees talk just

as long as th^- wanted to talk* I prolonged negotiations from day to day.

I did my best to let the committee members, themselves, show each other how

silly most of it all usually was, Then I would find a small point on which

I could make concessions# This would save the committeee members faces and

would make everybody happy* A good deal of our troiible, I think, was

simply due to the fact that the workers were terribly "bored most of the time*

After the farm strike, for example, I had the definite feeling.that the

construction workers resented some of the limelight that the farm workers

had put themselves into* I think the construction gang sehA was just plain 
j ea}01is
Asians and wanted to be put in the same categore as the farm workers --—  

that is, they wanted to be known in the community as a gang of people that 

was working for the interests of the community, they wanted to be-talked 

aTaout, they wanted to be admired* ^his, in great part, accounted for - 

the construction strike. M
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T O  ZK FABM STRIKE

MThe causes of the farm strike were, in part, the causes of all

the troubles at Tule Lake. Only the very immediate causes shifted from

incident to incident* Two things vfore common to every incidxnt involving 
,in the first place,

workers. That is/the wage scale was ridiculous in and of itself and,
nobody

in the second place, ggltî wy HAD to work. Put these two things together 

and you have a fertile ground for all kinds of troubles with workers. There 

was another fundamental isksome point with the farmers* at one time they 

had caught some of Milton Eisenhower^s sxbkhxlisdQx enthusiasm for some sort 

of a productive cooperative, profists from which would revert to them. Many 

had the initial idea that hard work on the wonderfully fertile Tule land 

would make them rich, liksx The*xx contrast between this early idea and the

actual wage scale made farm strikes all the more likely*

MMore immediately, hovrever, the farmers — and especially the 

foremen - —  were very dissatisfied with the way that Kallam was working 

the land. I suppose no man in Kallamrs job could have satisfied all the 

p<9〇ple wording on the farm, Many of them had been prosperous and enterprising 

agriculturists in their^iown right before evacuation and the simple 

fact that they had to take orders from Kallam was unpleasing. That he gave 

wh.a.t they considered bad or foolish, orders was that much, more unpleasing* 

Further, they were all very dissatisfied that we had completely inadequate 

equipment for the farm. Equipment had the discouraging habit of turning up 

two or three days after it was needed and after the jol) ha.d been done in 

a laborious way by hand* In most eases this was not KaLlam^ 
fault, but the colonists working oel the farm assmed that 
it was# ^his increased their discontent*
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11 ̂h© shoe issue, of course, brought the whole discontent
to a head* As エ told you before, we Ixad shoes for the farmers
irdocthe warehouse and were only waiting orders from Washington 
■feo yHrg+irHrieftryfciBamryyx distribute Tb .6 farBi©rs bad legitimate
complaint on the shoe deal andl had acknowledged that* T3a©y 
struck while I was in San Praticiseo at a conference which was
siipposddl to d.©cid.6 8. systoni of cL d.l.s'fcpl.Vci'fcion# Actually $
the conference did not solve this problem， though Fryer allowed 
m© to pmt through immediate plans to meet the strikers1 demand 
that work shoes b© supplied them# Joe ^ay©s managed the 
strike very well in my absence. %  did s© by calling me about
eveT»*y hour and discussing tlie fflinu'te.'toBsdjatite developjneivt of

events***

THE CD HSTRXJGTIOK S0?RIKE

This really was a trivial evmt* workers were bored,
the wanted soaieof the limelight th© fa?m workers were teaming
ixi, and also wanted a littX© ©xciteaienti• actually forget
what the issue was• I d> know the 攻 rike was in great part
the result of Slattery*s stupidity# ^etried to treat the
colonist workers as if th^r were ifexioarm or Indian laborers*
This ¥Duldn*t work under any circumstances; mwiaEx it was bound
to lead to tremble abnrlssxx under k k  relocation center

was stupid
eirctimstances* Slattery KawjwBidbi enougli to actually 
insult scaneof the coanaittee members when they were in My offl C6 
negotiating the difficulties* ^©put us back a week right there. 
I covered up by feeding them all in the administration messhall
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apad by reprimending Slattery then and there# W© talked fop days 
and, as I r©caXl«4x lt# ▲ saved the workers* faces by giving 
away on several minor points#11

GOAL TROUBLES

ttCoU troubles were perrenial because unloading coal 
was hard, dirty work* Sometimes the issue was protective clothing^ 
sometimes it was the frequaa tly broached proposition that 
coal workers should b© paid a fall days work on the basis 
of a tinit of work done rather tiian on the basis of a full time 
day* This last was a logical propositi on since the coal work 
was so tough and since, as I pointed out before, nobody had to 
work anyway* Bat it was afegwwiT absolutely agal nst government 
regulations* Witbulil* エ don t blame co致 workers# *̂ n
addition to eveiything else, we never had enotigh trucks to 
use, the switch erjgin© was always late, and nobody seemed to 
appreciate the coal workers* efforts#

THEATRE ISSUE

wIn «June I told the ooirammity that the WRA to uld build 
*xaaoeg*xx an auditorium, a city hall, and a church* At this 
■feiiae, all these t/hlngs w©rev planned andX mado my statemon t 
in good faith* the WPB came along and ccompletely
killed th© auditor!碰 ， After nmcli wrangling, the wPB later 
said we could xk have a small auditoritmi in cormecj5ion with 
the high school* But before this, at Slaterry*s »  ggestion

®**x WRA bought the QDntracter^ buildings acroes the tracks♦ 
Slattery taught we od uld ms© peclaimedltiniber frm these 衫セ
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buildingd for at least a small auditoriiam* W© ne^er made
a  b i g g e r  m i s t a k e 9 W h e n  w©  s t a r t e d  to p u l l  the o l d  s t r u c t u r e s

apart, we f o r n d  the p o o r e s t  p o s s i b l e  g r ad© o f  lisaber* M〇st

of  it s p lit as w e p u l l e d  it away* A n d  e v e r y  p i e c e  of  g o o d  ltimber
arountf this jAfcmp

that we r e c l a i m e d  was p r o m p t l y  stolen# It w a s o m e t i m e  

this tha t  ^ n d a l l  3 m i t h , A u u E x x  i n  a m e e t i n g  w i t h  ^ r y e r  a n d  

me, s h o w e d h o w a t i i e a t r e - a u d i t o p i i i m  o D u l d  be build with money 

from the commanity enterprises that xnuxkaiiix was held in a sort of 

loose trusteeship. Smith had vereythin^ worked out to the last detail 

and hes bowed us how the theatre could be built and paid for out of the 

income from the theatre in the space of ten months. All that was necessaryw 

was the immediate purchase of sutficient lumber before an impending 

freeze of lumber purchases. Fryer approved tii© whole deal and Smith 

purchased, the lumber# Smith had previously bought all kindsof 

equipment on exactly the same basis shoe repair stuff, Earner shop 

material, etc. His purchase of the theatre Xurntre was exactly the same 

kind of a deal. The people "became aroused and accused Smith of doing 賣咖•外 

something he had no right to do. This was nonsense* lilhat the people were 

really angry about was the fact tiiat they feared a theatre, charging 

admission prices, would drain off the financial resources of the c -̂mp.

Of course, I think thAt th.e theatre issue, itself, had very 

little to do with the r»w itself* Rather, the theatre issue ivas a 

joust for power between Nisei and Issei. The Council approved the 

theatre, the Issei in block meetings and other places raised hell, 

and then the Nesei Council backed down. It was a clear Issei victory 

and one of the tthings leading up to the OWI incident that clearly showed 

tiie Council * si iipotenc© &ud th,e Issei dominanc©•
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fKE QWI 1RQA>DQA>ST
*1 wsk.s coioplstely opposed to tlie wliole id.6A of us trying 

to get colonists of Tule Lake to 4o overseas broadcasts tx for tiie 

OWI*. I pleaded with Rowalt not to send tiie OWI to Tule and at first 

he accepted niy decision* But 1ftter he called to tell me that

Elmer Davis was insistant on the broadcasts "because of the great use Japan was

making of the evacuation in Japanese propaganda "broadcasts in the Far East.
but

Sdfeiiix I still H?otested xsA the OWI team came to Tule Lake despite 

my protests* TShen they came, they just appeared in a M g .  truck 

and I had no opportunity to prepare the commanity for them. This was 

a great mistake. The Council Sk approved the idea when it was presented

to them ____ Taut tacked down as per custom in the face of i*»Kixt>xv

block meeting opposition* One of tiie most disgraceful things

that ever happened at Tule Lake was the general meeting that was

held to discuss the matter. The a*x OWI representatives, themselves,

were unfortunate choices «-** one fellow who thought he could speak

Japanese creating an instant dislike for himself and his unit with

his terribly garbled use of the langaage* He was so "bad. that he could

not follow the very "bad translations that were made * Tsoth from Japanese into

English, and from Enlish into Japanese* I had a little fellow translating

for  ___an L̂ i don*t think/fciiere were ever more Un American statements

mad© than during this meeting. It got so "bad that I stood up 

and requested my own staff to leave and suggested to the OWI leader that 

be do the same for his staff. Later, several Issei cane and apologized 

to me for "both what was said and for the dishonest translations.

MAs a whole, the OWI incident demonstrated that the colonists 

could not 'be pushedinto anything they d i d n H  want to do —  even

under the banner of patriotism，The thing migHt have succeeded if

ittluiiixxx the conunauity had "been "better prepared teat it had no chance
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without community preparation and with the ujifortunate choice m d e  

"by the OWI in the matter of personnel at the project*

MBut in ±h»x  one way, at least, the OWI incident was 

fortiiuAtje* It deinonstratedL t.o tile Njsei Gotin cil, "better ttisin 6iziytlii.ng 

had done before, how subservient it was. to the Issei Council meetings# 

And it gave the Council some new backbone* Mrs Shirrell andl always 

felt that the OWI incident th.e very lowest point in the 

project’s history*M

AFTER THE OWI —INCIDENT

**Prom the OWI incident onward, tiie Project progressed nicely,

2kx Conditions continuously imporved* For one thing, the Council 

was disposed to assert itself more vigorously. For another, Shlbata 

and I were successful in getting the Issei Advisory Council
it

xxzkx approved ty the Council stud, set up* (Miyamoto knows this story and./is(& 

not being Ax written up here.) For another, I felt that my regular 

meetings with the Issei block representatives were definitely helpful 

in mainting better relations between the administration and the 

community* There is no doutt that I, personally, got along better with 

the conmranity after the OWI incidents I could feel. this. And I knew 

the general administration was gKjctx more successful. Things were 

swining along wonderfully when M N G t  I was pushed out. The very 

fact that we were getting alon so well accounts for how badly I felt

when I iv&s fired* (亙or the reasons given to Mr Shirrell for his "being fired

ftnd liis own &oa.lysist GP ftk First Shirrell interview*)
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MISCELIAH10US

wThe Issei Planning Board, was one of the most successful 

institutions set up at Tule Lake, It was a most cooperative body and > 

it worked very hard* It also accomplished, results. 5*4r example, it

was only through the Board's efforts that tiie messes JUBixxx in tねe eating

halls and. the ̂ hospital were fixed to the coiamu.iity1 s satisfaction.

After the Councils work, we had practically no trouble on these matters.

One of Coverleyls greatest errors was the fact that he practically

ignored the Planning Board when he came to Tule* In the mass arrests during

the registration trouble, Coyerley had old Yamashita, Chairman of the

giMniBgylwaiTTix Board, picked up and tossed into j a i l . H e did this

without consulting Jacoby and Jake went absolutely wild* This was

the parting of the ways between Coverley and Jacoby; they didn't get

along at all after this* Yamashita only spent one *rr night in jail

and released the next morning* But Coyerley never went &r〇-und

to apologize, I am told he said United States Government cannot

make mistakes in its dealings with individuals and cannot apologize to ±xi±vtwfe

individuals*• In any case, the Planning Board passed out of existence tith

this incident. It might have stopped a lot of the subsequent trouble

over the registration. As it was, all the preparatory work with the

Board was lost at a time of crisis when it was needed most. ♦ • *M

MWe enjoyed very cordial relations with the fiwuajqc officials 

of Modoc county. Very luckily we were not in the County of Si sky ou

Modoc PUtliC sentimeat the <Jap Campt was very high. The County seat of

Mad* was at Alturus and I acheived a sort of friendship with the Cou ty

Judge, Coroner, Sherriff, etc. They came right to tv,
^  t〇 th« camp when

we needed
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their services. In this respect, we at Tule were lucky to miss 

all tiie 七1*〇\11)16 "tiiAt, say， Nasli had wi"til the Inyo- County people*

If we had been, in Siskyou, it would haveteen a different 

story for us« ♦ • •M

M3fou can 'be damn sure of one thing. The Regional offices 

w«re closed up for only one reason* the WRA was not big enough to 

hold two "big men «—  Fryer and Myer* It wasnft a question of personal 

animosity was much as it was a metter of disagreement over certain 

basic policies. At that, at the bottom, I think it was more than 

anything Fryer1s insistence on the timixx immediate definition 

of policy and tlie inability or indisposition of Myer and the 

Washington "boncli to make early decisions. lefore the August policy meeting,

the grapevine had it that Fryer was going to quit u less

Myer canie through with definite decisions* We were stalled on all 

kinds of things - - - leaves, clothing, pay —  damn near everything*

11 Fryer did a  very clever thing "before these meetings* He got

all tiie regional people and the project directors tpgetiier «• couple of

days before the Wasiiington bunch were due to arrive. We ironed out 

all our difficulites in advance tlarough a series of committee meetings 

and when tiie ^ashingon Tsoys came on the scene we were prepared 

tax with a solid front. Most of the things decided in August x k x s  

had already been decided "before Myer arrived,

essentially the trouble remained and after August, lsg±^«i 

Regional-National relationships repidly deteriorated. At the Salt Lake toft* 

Conference in November, we already knew that the Regional offices 

were goiag to "be closed up* Administratively, moving to Washington
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was the silliest damn thing I had. ever heard, of* It wou,ld have been 

much better to move the central offices Westward.M

R®1 the question of DST that there was a shortage of food 

^ien the Pinedale and Walegra groups were moved, in unexpectedly^ 

ShirrellI MI don't recall a thing about that*. I don|t think 

we ever had a real shortage of food and. I (&onft recall any unexpected 

arrival* from Pinedale or Walegra*11

MIhere was never any friction between me and Halle on one side 

and Jasoby and Fleming on the other** Actually, Halle was in 

a very difficult position and we all sympathised with her. The 

Regional and Washington offices just wouldnft make any decision on 

public assistance grants. It was aiiKXX well into before

a d ecision was made* Then there was no decision about whether 

the grants would be paid in cash or "by check* All this added to 

f 11 our worries• Halle was in the center of it but I do not 

think Jacoby or Fleming were ever after her seriously.M

㈣The "boilers "busted doen "because nobody realizedf x during 

the construction days, how much tkKvxotofitztsvx hot water the colonists

would dBimand* Tule Lake used mor -mter per capita than any other

comparably sized city*. The "boilers were overtaxed and coniauously overheate d# 

A few were defective. 2hey laad all been made on special order and no

more were teing produced, Therefore, when one broke down it was virtiially 

impossible for us to replace them*11

(of both interview and of Grodzins)
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Grodzins Interview with Dillon, Myer, Elmer Rowalt, and Philip Glick, 
September 13,1943

Mr. Myer called G-lick and Rowa，lt into his office shortly after 
entered in order that the three of them might give me some general ideas as to

、 methodological ノ
procedures in examining data of the WRA. In addition to Hi 1 î lTiiin*!ill 11 lilTvi

vice, the three men threw light on the following matters?

^ 一"翻 川 飘 皆  ^ M 〇 I E S
G-licS: pointed out that a memorandum of Mr. Eisenhower dated May 5,

1942, outlining tentative policies of WHA was one of the ^organization*'s

fundamental documents*** It wgives a complete picture of the trend of

WSA thinking throughout the whole regime of the first Director and "by following

through on subsequent administrative instructions, it is possible, by starting

from the May 5 document,to follow the changes in virtually every policy of the Authority.

Mk( The file department supplied us with a cop^ of this memorandum and the first

Job of our secretary is the compilation of a complete set of subsequent Administrative

Instructions, Solicitor*s XHjasrix Opinions, etc. These docoments, once gathered,

may be retained by us and they will form the e s s e n t i a l o f  official orders,

necessary for a study of WBAls administration*)

VOLUNTARY EVACUATION

Rowaits HThe decision to stop voluntary evacuation was our •first

general act®* It was an absolutely nscessary decision. When we first moved to

San Francisco, we couldn^t get anything done* We were kept "busy answering

the phone, Sherriffs call^^complaining atout Jans moving through their

jusisdiction, Japs-nese called to tell us they were stuck and that nobody would.
♦

sell them gasoline, the newspapers were howling — - and we just immmc had to 

create a little order out of chaos* So we made the recommendation to De Witt and 

he issued the freezing notice. It was only after the freezing order that 

the arxny~^iMliMK and WHA saw it was necessary to go through the process

of building "both assembly and relocation centers.

FIRST PLAHS
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FIRST PLAITS

R owaltj MBefore the freezing order was issued, the Armv

had. plans for a few Assem'bljr centers. But it was their idea that more 

than half the total Japanese population v/ould "be able to meet the 

evacuation deadlines for voluntary movement and would leave the i>rohiT3ited 

area* For these people, the army had no plans — . they were to be free agents, 

r〇r the other half of the West Coast ^apanese population, the Army had plans 

for two very large concentration points. Those people who woula not or could 

not move voluntarily were to be moved to Manzanar and Poston* These were 

to be very large centers, Poston to hold more than 40,000 people. The 

centers were conceived to be no more than resting points from which 

the Japanese, once there, could proceed further Eastward oncex^m they had 

secured jobs and community acceptance. Actually, no-one thought much of 

community acceptance* Puplic opinion was omitted from consideration*

G-lickS HWe made somewhat the same mistake. Our first idea for 

WHil was that it would serve three functions* First, we were to provide 

financial aid for Japanese who wanted to move but who were unable to 

do so for the lack of funds* Second, we had the idea of small CCC sort of 

work camps, sdctkcacx hundreds of them scattered, all over the country, the 

working population in each camp being employed in the surrounding neighborhood. 

Thirdly, we thought we would set up a group of way stations, perhaps as many 

■as fifty,1101ding from 1,000 to 1,500 people* These,t©o, would Tse 

scattered but, rather than being work camps, they were to be filter points 

from which evacuees could proceed to jobs in urban centers or to 

farm work, as individuals or as single families* In early March, we had 

no coneeption of Relocation Centers as they finally evolved.w



G-rodzins --- Myer, Rowalt and G-lick -3-

し 一 — — : ..

Myer* MThe Salt Lake 〇ity Meeting of April 7 . . .  * was fundamental 

in setting the character of the relocation centers as they were finally evolved. 

Two things became very clear} In the first place,

kaftxl)Hb]abxfe3afe,KTD the Grovernors and other state officials present demanded 

that no concentrations of Japanese Americans would be allowed unless they 

were under military guard* in the second place, the army made it clear 

that it was unprepared to set out gurads for small groups and that 

the laininmm size groups for which it would supply guards was 5,000. Putting 

these two things together, it was clear that we had to abandon our ideas of 

small 0CC5«type camps and of way stations and orient our thoughts toword 

large centers. The Salt Lake meeting, therefore, must rank as an event 

of first importance insofar as early policies «re c o n c e r n e d . H o t  

only did it determine the size of the camps but it also;shKaanixaxbjbdfctor 

^aiixbfba35gk3tftxkt^ali3：biiiiiEbkbEfenibxiiBb*fexaugqi： made necessary the abandonment of all 

immediate plans for xx individual relocation* The latter is true because of

：： ：：：：： ：： ~ ^

toword any resettlement by the people present at the meeting* Of course, that 

attitude soon changed when the manpower situation became acute* ®ut fey that 

time v;e were far underway with camp planning and resettlement still had to occupy

x GrlickS WEA was formed out of disagreement betweeh the Army and 

the Justice Depariupent* (Uotej this is nothing more than a continuation 

of the pr©-evacuation disagreement,) Justice wanted a civilian agency 

to handle Japanese-American matters after the movement, itsi^ft had tak-
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place. Array authorities agreed but apparantly didn*t want Justice fio do 

the job* X d o n H  think Justice wanted it either* In any case, WEA 

started through, the efforts of Jim Rowe in Justice working with McCloy 

in the War Office and the Bureau of the Budget* As early as March 1 or 2, 

Eisenhower had thought the thing out to some extent. H e had been contacted 

*by the Budget Bureau and 011 that date showed me a rough draft of the executive 

order. I actually wrote the Exec* order as it signed, working from 

a draft prepared by the Budget Bureau and Bis6nhower*s notes, •A*ffeei*wai*ds 

a couple of paragraphs were added feyx at the War Office's suggestion. 1*11 

identify the Warxx Off ice丨 s paragraphs for you later•受 Wayne Coy 

of the Budget Bureau is a good man for you to see on the early stages."

BARLY DISAGREEMENT WITH THE AHMY

Rowalt{ **After first plans for the larg© Relocation Centers were

under way, we of course had frequent conferences with the army* The|^

army officials took exception, especially, to two aspects of

our planning. They were pretty insistent on the points but we gave away

on neither of them. In the first place, they strenuously objected to

our plans for self governeraent. They pointed out that they (in WCCA〉 had

tried self government of a sort and that tĥ jr had had to call it all off

completely, They tried to demonstrate that their experience was conclusive and

that all ather plans for self governement v/ithin centers would be doomed

to similar failure. We had assumed self-government from the very beginning

and were not disposed to give away at a l l . V e didnH. Within the WSA

ourself, our onljr discusssions w©re with, rospect to th.6 typs of self«»goveriB2pe3i't•

(To see lowalt later on xaxyx various types of self-governmenet discussed within

the agency.) In the second place, the army officials objected even more 
violently to our internal security plans. We had thoiight in terms of an all
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Japanese j)lice force aradbc with one o: 

Wcca people practically insisted tha

one or two Caucasians to head it

take from 30 to 50 Caucasian

polce men in each of* the centers. It was a very hot issue*"

DIES AKD CHAJTDLBR COMITTEES

Hyer{ • 丨It wasn*t only the Los Angeles Chamber of Commerce and other 

Chambers that got Mr Dies after us. It was also Chaillaux and his National 

Americansini Committee of the American Region* If, as you say, Costello 

is the motthpiecse of the Loa Angeles Chamber, then certainly the Dies Committee 

is the mouthpiece of the SckadicHx Chaillo-ux (sp?) Legion G-roup, Chaill^ux 

claims that he pushed Dies into the WKH investigation when he saw that Chandler 

wasn*t doing the right kind of a Chandler was investigating 一—  not

condemning enough. So the D|es investigation was the result of diverse 

factorst the Gostello^Chamber tie-up, the Legion desires and, I am convinced^ 

the fact that Dies was left somewhat floundering with the folding up of the 

Communis International*

Myert MI am readj to admit that we must shape policy to fit the

public^* demand from time to time. But Public Opinion, strictly speaking,

never actually moves policy alone, rather it*s just an additional factor
Chandler

"to consider* ^or exsinple, tlie flBDBdbiBifcs and Dies investigations certainly hurried 

the segregation* But we had been in the process of planning segregation, for 

more than a year and the registration issue hurried us even morenthan 

Dies and SHSieilmcxxft^t Chandler did. For another example, we had been on the

fence for weeks in considering allowing the use of short wave radios 

in the inland centers. Alien enefty regulations prohibit their use

PUBLIC OPINION THE FORMATION OF POLICY
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the coastf of course* xilrmayxvBrjcvsreiixlDEavK Our discussions may very- 

well have resulted in allowing the use of short wave radios in the inland

centers. But when Dies moved in, we simply had to cease our consideration of 

the asi matter* We*ll have to talk at length about this,11

MISCELLANEOUS

See? On general Administrative problems, especially ein|pLoyment and 

reimbussement (ttgreatest and most comples administrative problem,WMyer,) -  

Barrows and Rowalt,

011 early stagesJ Rowalt and CJlick,

On Segre空itiont Rowalt

On Resettlement* Myer (Also story of Stimson letter*)

On Dies and Chandleri Myer
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Interview with Dillon Myer September 29,1943

RESKTTLEMM T
u<̂ his has been fully documented, ©specially in the early history,

by Holland in a long memorandum* You must geb a copy of this memo 
(^e already hadi and it is the best iaasx single dooiment on policy 
that we have*)

Eisenhower, in theveiy beginning of his work, thought
largely in terns of resettlemen七 "by individuals or by small groups
in l&&ibacWxx CGC^like camps scat七ered ou七七hrough the entire country*
But the April 7 meeting at Salt Lake City, to say nothing of the
experience of the voluntary evacuees, made Eisenhower change his
mind completely* Almost exclusively because of the publvic acceptance
idea, h© began to think m  term s of p470man^b relocation
centers, large ones which 七he TOG would bjwilling to 雜 物 idx guard,
andin which 七}le Japanese Americans would sfc ay for the d-uration of the
war • Though completely discouraged, over
large scale resettlement, he nevesr closed
the early period, two fac tors were important* エn the first place,
Co丄lege Relocation was started and enoouraged.エn the second place,
the WGCA and the WRA workedou七 ；procedures by which workers could
be recruited in groups for the aigar beet fields. Respite the fact
that ax evacuatiion movemeiits were still under way and the fact
that there were complicating overlapping linesof authority between
the WCGA and the WRA, some 1700 workers were recruited (mostly from
Assembly Centers because 七ha七*s where most of the evacuees were)*

 ̂VV During this first recmiitmoit period, T〇m Holland had left for the
field and h© returned just axsx several days fafcsjpx after I sat down

» at
at this desk. We held a staff meeting aasi which Holland recommended

十 r的 pects of eny
he door* For examp丄e during
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that we abandon the whole work corps idea and that we immediately innaugurate 

an intensive program of resettlement* New as I was) this sounded like good 

sense to me and so we immediately held a series of discussions* These eventuated 

in our first cautious administrativeinstruction on resettlement on JulyidSx 20,

pressure during these months was from agriculturists wbo needed labor* Before 

the harvest season was over, we bad in the neighborhood of ten thosand workers out 

In the fields* In the very states from which had come the gxescetoc burst 

of aoger at the April meeting at Belt Laloe* This certainly indicated that 

we could get public acceptance for an indefinite le ave piogram* At the 

August conference in glrinr San Francisco, we worked oyer the leave program and» 

aft®r later refinement, the Sani Francisco program is what we publiahed in

for local groups to handle the resettlement program in the communities to which 

eyacueee might go* We were thinking in working out the program on somewliat the 

sane lines that we had worked out college relocation with the fiends group#

We 80011 changed our siinds^ however* and realized thatj if we were to pursue 

resettlement vigorously, we would have to do it ourselves* The setting up 

of the relocation field offices was just a natural step* It came too late 

to suit me, and I hit T〇m  Holland pretty hard once when he seemed to

be following the "thing with less drive than エ tliougM it deserved*

It was during 观  field trip in Noveiube r that w© hatched the relocation offi *e 

idea* and worked it up to substaatially the form it finally took*

General DeWitt* He expressed no open disapproval, other than asking about

the danger of sabotage at a place like Salt Lake City, for example,

where there was bound to be a rather large coacentration of people relocating.

1942*

A  Well, things moved fast during July, August and eptember. Our greatest

*al 'Befeoâ L of September 29f 1942*

^ In the surnmer moirfelis, we thotiglit and hoped that if would be possible

On this t t l p ,エ discussed the program for more 1;恤11 an hour 冒ith
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エ told him very straightforwardly, that I *thouglit there would be no greater 

danger fi©m this group than fram any other, even in the eyent of a Japanese 

attack on the coastt aod he plainly didn*t like that* At only one time did 

It seem to me that I got aiy real response from the General# That ia when I told 

M m  that the agricultural groups were so insistent on recruitisg labor thatt 

±£x even if we wanted to keep the evaccuees in the camps for the duration,

we would find it impossible to do* ^he General said fI can understaad that• ♦

It was even before this trip, just before it, that I told a staff 

meeting in Washington that we were going all out on a program of relocation 

and that we were to subordinate all other things to this program， (We leave 

verbatim minutes of this meeting*) From this announcemeiit to date, 

resettlement has simply progressed In a normal line， with the aaccession of 

administrative notices showing the steps we have taken to speed up the 

process and increase the effectiveness of the program*w (CF below, for 

part ad! h〇i>e-to-speed-«3Krelocation played in registration di fficttikty*)

EARL/ UTOPIAN PLAN OF EISENHOWER

w¥  agree with you that the plan firxlrx outlinal in Sisenhower*8 

first policy memorandum of June 29 was an Utopian scheme,* and one that would 

havehad the Congressmen howling. ’Communian** But Eiseiiio.wer* for a w M l e ， had 

both Fryer and me sold on it* It seeped the only feasible way of 

working the evacuees themselves out of a terrible position^ especially in 

view of the wage scale that Eisenhower had felt impelled to Impose in the fetce 

of public hostility* The vtoole thing fell through for two reasons• In the 

first place, it was actoinistratively impossi,ble, absolutely impossible* In 

the second place, it msxkAx at direct variance with the prggram of reeettlement

and any success of "the share—tlie.profi't plan would have "beea in direct 

ratio inimical to the progress of relocation. To acc omplish relocation 

successfully» it is imperative that we maintain a minimum of living standards;
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for further conment on why early scheme failed*)

(Aside on THE AUGUST POLICY MEETING IN SAF FRANCISCO).

^We went over the entire gamut'of policies from one end to the 

other at this meeting* (We have agenda with ccamnitte line-ups*) Polcies 

on leave* employment, ©ducationj procurement* relief, cooperativest religion, 

food， ±x±bex evacuee government and maz^r other thingsy all the administratiye 
instructions that were issued in the month and a half following! were evolved 

/  at least in the rough at San Francisco# The whole matter of segregation was 

also gone over* Glick and one or two others had just come from Manzanar and 

were impressed by the signiof unrest there* The first iCibei meetings had 

just been held and had reverberated throught the colony* I was urged to 

acceed to a polciy of segregation* 3dt^aaBgvMbjanBtonpgMa»giagto«Eirftx *Remove the 

troublemakers * # I was urged. f How can we pick them out,* I replied* And no*
h " へ '■ «

body oould tell me how it could be done. Butt after much discussion, I 

did tell them エ was readybto move.on those people who had clearly decided 

to throw in their lot with Japan, that is» the repatriates and expatriate®*

I told them we would move with thiszxKsxgxx segregation poliey if we could

find a place to put ikamp: these groups to be segregated* The trouble, of cours e,

was that we couldnft find the space* xS 7〇u» of course, have ilrea^y traced

our earlier segregation discussions* It is interesting t) know that we

actually had a definite first poltcfr as early as August, f一 we juet ム

could find no means of carrying it out,w

* MOAB AND LEUPP

"No, en^pha tic ally no f Moab and Leupp were in no sense the outcome of

any early ideas on segregation. Spealdng very frankly --- and I hate to

it — —• Leupp and Moab were pure accidents* We had discussed the

troublemakers at San Francisco in August, of ccjfurse* After this meeting,
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Fryer wentlt out into the field and made prcjmises to the Project Directors* 

especially at Manzanart that we would make Bern provieion for the troublemakers 

and that there just wouldn*t be any more troublemakers in the camp. Then* 

came the troubles at Poston and Manzanar> and the Project Directors 

really put the mnt screws on us# In spite of the cotnmitments made by Sy 

Fryer, X held out against the whole thing for several days* These were very 

tense days in my relationships with Fryer, I was veiry worried about the 

,due process* involved in such a segregation movement and opposed it on 

maimly those grounds• In the face of Fryer *s cornmitment^nd Fryer* s jaa.8v.vm 
pressure, however, I approved the setting up df M o a ^ ^ W b o d y  Imew what Moab 

was or what it was going to be* We didn’t know whether it was a jail»■ 
a rehabilitation camp, or what* We still d〇n ft know about laupp* They 

were definitely never considered as segregation centers, in line with tlie 

general patirirem policies of segregation with which we had been so preoccupied.

The camps were always, and Leupp still is, simply a pl，ce where we can keep

people whom we consider trouble makers but whom, speaking very £s frankly* 

w© don*t have enough evidence to take into Civil Courts* After we o^ce 

setf the place up, wehad a lot of trouble with the Project Directors who 

wanted to use Leupp (which was substituted for Moabbat the end of January 

because it had superior accomodations) for their gamblers, their petty

I hope to be able to get rid of it someday* Nevertheless, Leupp has

accomplished several good *things, M t K i x  in great part because we have

been lucky in having Bast and Robertson to treat the people there with 

firmness and yet with understanding. For one thing, the ^aole idea has 

had a salutary effect on the public. For another* it really has had 

a great deal to do with keeping the so-called Kibei group m  hand. And these

nearly
thieves and atsDODOs®*! everyone elsex about whom they had doubts#

WI didn*t like the Leupp id 'rom the start and I still don*t

two things — plus the work of Best and Robertson iiav© justified "fcliB thing
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I suppose. But I still don*t like it and I still hope to close the thing

out* .
pU女

"Now don*t^me on the spot about the legality of Leupp# I have 

said from the first that it*s illegal and I still think so, I n o t  at all 

proud of i«uppxx even though it has been effective* At first, we 

weren’t even giving hearings'tci those that were sent; there* Now, of course, 

we are* But that doesn*t improve things vejry much at all* At ieast) though,

I did one thing before I gave the 〇• K* sign for Moab. Ahat is, I got 

Roger Baldwin and Alexander Meiklejohn into this office and told them 

wahet we were goimg to do* I told them that it was a purely emergency matter 

and I told them frankly why it was necessary* I also told them to hold off any 

action — « or at leatt, if I didnlt do it that directly, I indicated that 

we needed their sympatheic understanding in the wholeprocess. We have 

always been very cordial in our relations with the Civil Liberties group, and 

both men showed a fine understanding*

ttI had hoped to do something about J-eupp long before this* Just 

as we sort of slipped into the Idea in the first place, so it has limped along* 

Thatfs because our key personnel has been tied up in all the much more 

important events of December,® ^aauary, and February* I had hoped to 

send Glick and Prolrinse out to regularize the nfeole thing emd perhaps

JbretXL work out a scheme for liquidating tjie c a m p ---but you know what

has happened aLnoe it was set up* But I still hope to get rid.of 

the thing* Donft ask me Ddien*w j c

NISEI IN THE

^Immediately after my first field trip in July, I began talks with 

Mr« McC]_〇y urging that the Nisei be drafted into the army thfough regular 

procedures of ^elective Service* McCloy agreed with my viewpointt and 

he immediately started procedures to get it under way* By Septeiaber,
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it seemed reasonably sure that we wd»uld succeed*

料•ttW»ip ♦♦The War department set up a special board* to consider the matter*

T<n Holland sat with the Board at one meeting. It called in a lot of 

people and took testimony froma a number of witnesses • Among the 
witnesses was Col, Pettigrew, who had had many years of experience 
in Japan* Col. Pettigrew was very emphatic in his recommendation 
that the Nesei be drafted just like any other group/ On 七he other 
hpind, many others with the Western Defense Cpmmand point of view 
gave opposite recommendations and the Board, itself, reported 
adversely. Col. Pettigrew saw this recommendation before it was 
generally circulated* He immediately addressed a memorand-um 七0 

Mr* McCloy, attacking both, the procedure and the recommendation 
of the iatui Board, his strongest poin七 "being that it had called 
witnesses who had no special knowledge of the Japanese question 
in American and who were, by and large, incompetent to pass on 
the matter of their army service* Mr* McOloy was impressed by 
this memo and had Pettigrew detailed to his office* McCloy gave 
Pettigrew the job of working up a program and the Colonel did a very 
thorough job, coming over here, going to Selective Service head­
quarters and even making a visit, I think, out to the ^est Coast. 
McCloy told me that Pettigrew recommended the ordinary Selective 
Service procedures for the Niseif and McCloy, aisx early in November, 
tild me that the draft for Nesei was ebx±xx definitely coming, I 
suggest that you check this whole thing with McCloy, himself*

crawl over the dead body of ^eWitt, as well as a couple of others• 
There is no doubt that McCloy put everything he had "behind the draft

getting it through the
wH〇wever, McCloy told me that 

and that he
he had a hell of a time
prac七ical丄y had to

for Nisei* But all he could get was a compromise • The coippromise
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McCloy
was the combat team idea* It was the best that M&giasy could get.

wThis was early in January* And this was the time
that my personal relationships with MCCloy reached their lowest 
state. Because ェ frankly raised the devil about the combat team. 
I told them theife, would be very great resistences to ^imteering 
and predicted that they wouldnft get many more tlian a tlidijtsand to 
volunteer* 丄 pleaded, at least, that they use selective service
along with the volimteering and argued that those drafted
be scattered throughout all army units wothout segregation in 
any one place. At these meetings, エ did not get across the point 
that selective service should be used on a non-segregat4d basis.
But I was assured that Selective Service would b© used if the 
combat team quota was not filled by volunteering. We had several 
conferences with Selective Service officials and all of us came 
away with this definite understanding, I, of course, accepted
this in good faith and エ told this to the projects --  Topaz
I remember put the specific question to me. When trouble came 
at Tule and the FBI was asked to aid in making arrests, the FBI 
office contacted the Washington Selective Service group and were

= : r  r ~ ^ ：T s：: r

form, was NOT a Selective Service act, and that no drafting of 
Nisei was contemplated. This, of course,, was transmitted to us a n d - W  
were amazed• The Selective Service liason men in the army, with the 
Army people connected in the matter, had simply come to this 
policy without either informing wSsr or M〇Cl〇y 〇r anybody* McCloy and 
Scobey had been working on precisely the same assumption that I had 
b©§n a.nd both were simply sick^ It was a. real mess and took more than
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The q u estion !Ib y  the deolsion not to allow Zssei to hold o ffice  in thd 
Connunlty gorenuaents*

aLIGK»S ▲KSWEBl

馨曹ore iride differences in opinion among 露ta ff  

member露 《^>out 如 你  o ffice  holding ctnd voting for Two ideab

stood out：

X* The Eelocation Centers should be run no differently  

than aoy other American oommauitj* (Stauber and o th ers .)

2m ProTinse and OXick hexd the e〇ntrar7  view that th is  

was an over mieohanloal and f ic t i t io u s  idea, that the c ity  goveraaonts 

had to glared to f i t  the program of the I bkxIcx HBk and th a t, sp eelflo ally , 

they should em phasize t r a i n i n g  i n  AHcVlcanism  and p re p a re  

th e y ^ s ld e n ts  t o  ta k e  t h e i r  p^ace i n  norm al connrnxnm es a g a in *

(NOTEj Proylnse In Interview of 10/7/43 aald that he opposed
b a r r in g  from  o f f ic e  becaus© ^aa a s o c io lo g is t ;  • エ Ime曹

govopninenfe ohl sugIi ®. baaia would not# liav© ft solid
fo\m daticm  in  t h e  co n m w iity Z  T h is  d i f f e r s  aoraeWh&t from  

(KLick*# r e c o l l e c t i o n ， a s  b©10寶*) pp〇̂ # and G lie k  s a id  th e re

ivsls n oth in g  o rd in a ry  about th e r e lo c a t io n  x s  c e n te rs  and t h a t  

s o c i o lo g i c a l l y  th e y  were Wiormal commimities and th e r e fo r e  

theyiac had to  have anorm al governments to  f i t # s o c i o l o g l e a l l y ,  

the s i t u a t io n  as i t  e x is t e d .  S p e c i f i c a l l y ,  th ese  a re  th e arguments 

-used b y  Gl i c k  and ^ rovln se in  h o ld in g  f o r  an 18861 v o te  

1311is In  opposHsioxi to  tlac Iss® l 1101d in g  o f f i c e s

If aliens wore allowed to hold office, they 
would get all the offices, Experienc© with preliminary government 
at ^anzanar domoiistiẑ t tod isiudfex t»l3110f Xssel wer© complotely 
dominant thera"#

2# Thla w uld work directly contrary to the first 
interest of th® authority, namely, the encouragement of
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leadershipn anl ibannDxmsx Am0z*5Leaai應m among the Hesel# "We 
曹ere, afraid of the politness， the propensity of th6 Nisei 
to step aside in deference to the elders/

5# If Issei took over the office*̂  the asamebly 
vould carry on Its business in Japanese* This# both for 

community and for the publicf would be sxtremely bad.
4• To the extent that the council tvas to "become 

the spokesman and th® symbol of the comm\inity# it had to 
be an American group* To have the governing body a symbol 
of Japanese cultiire rather than American wwould have been 
directly contrary to everjrthing we were trying to do."

5«Publlc opinioa the d̂anger that a Congressional 
inveatighter would stick his nose into a Counoll meeting 
and hear Japanese being spoken11 — —  v&s a 
This "simply could not be faced*11

6« Iseoi had been taimting 霣毳aei that citizenship 
xoo&nt^ n o t h i n g  a.t & X X  ftod d©spiiJ6 ^li6iLF c3Ltiz©118111.p^ 15110y

were behind wlws just like the non-citizens. By discrlmlnatinlng 
in favor of citlnens In the community governmont set-up# it was 
thogght that an additional premium could be paid to the 
benefits of citizenship#

These argtusientB carried the way In staff meetings•
They were persmalv© to Glick and to others and they are 
still persuRfliv© to 〇lick9 But he admlta the whole idea 
aim Xy v&s no good. simply to6C8.\is© d.idn$l5 work*
This is why It didnH work：

l#The premium on citizenship idaa maos, backfired*
Isoei snorted that if this m a  all citizenship meant, then 
it still didn't amô mt to a dama#
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2#zStaBvf8etztiur2 In fact# Kesei felt their 
exeluslvenessl In the oouncll was an effrontery to th© Issel*
The dtlsen ĝ oup, itselff would not accept the loglo or 
th« necessity of the4type of thinking mtliiied above* They 
were not wlXHing to accept responsibility knowing that the 
elders were the real leaders and that their own leadership 
was forced*

5* ̂ he fact that no provlsloa was made for even 
a minority dfl Issel (even one or two would have helped) 
made H，8ei iî dllingness even stronger than It might have 
been. /|^

4* Inhere already existed m strong conflict 
youn^ and old9 citizen and alien* The No-Issel-on- 

Coivdcll rilling â graTftted this tension* wIt was too crudef 
top too? opeid an effrontery. It had none of the
nleetl^s needed toxyukvt*iHvx give the nA advantage，
Xt lacked sophistication•**

5* Issel felt the discrimination strongly 
and actilrely worked against the cotmsll, either by evolving 
method# to by-puss it or by Ignoring It or by playing up 
ltd l^p〇tenee#

6 • Many ppotesta frc»a both colonists and administutors 
were received* WI felt all along that the Project Erectors 
曹er© not '良n with the thing and that their attitude
取 s one 沖 atjactuftlly sabotaged any success the scheme had•
(A letter of September or October (曹• have) shows that kb 
Qlick and Brovinae still held siray in Septenibet and October 
of last yeer and demons 1ji«tea 11〇曹 strongly they ir©re in stippoi*fc 
of the orî liial iSica.]
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As time wont on# it beoame evident
that there would have to be a ©bang© and thMt Xssel would have 
to be allowed to hold office# Felloning art the 
atrongest eonalderatlona that led to theehAng« of polelys 

l.Tbe oouziclXs jiuit iveren^ ivorking out "Pell* "
2 9 The 0〇l〇Bl«ts oonplaiaed m»d petitioned for 

18861 re preseii tat Ion*
3* Tho Px»pjeet directors wasted the ohaage*
4« Qliek and r̂oTlnse refined Isolated In their 

oppoaitioa to the change, ^hat jdc i8 0 1 It靡elf f nas 
龜 faetornin naking these men give way* The Apleotor held out 
with Bllek and Provinse* Whoa they flopped, so did he、

&• B̂Tdn aiy ̂ rojeet Attorneys r«l>ell«d and 
k«pt oa my talll11

6_ It 賣&8 olear that the ohange 驚戴繼 to b«
nade.nolx But It 罾ould aot have been good 睢dminî tz*纛tion
to omit an orlglnai erx*or so eretfbodj e&at about for
a good ratloaftllsatioa, ^he ratioirnlisailoa that was

a e t u A l l yfound was 00 good thcit it/nadt floqpadt aggt畑out for the
ehangef tho\«gh Gllek ampbaalad that it didn't bave anything 
to do with daterninlng the ehange* rationalisations so 
many ̂ Asei mre XeaYing eamps that adjuatmeats had to 
xa&da in eoxnmimity representation*

In Summationt fta atlll persuaded bj the original 
orgtmentB that our first plan v&b a eorreot one under the 
olretnnstances. Furthermora, I eannot b# persuaded that it 
might not have -ork.d if everyl^dy •—  and .specially the 
^rojeet fersormvl— • bad giiren It a fair trial* But this 
“  wiv a” rmlnion and I my rerj m i l be nrong«
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lo, of course, did consider M  Is應6i 狼dvisoryboard
umxauntt after we had decided that there would be ao 
representatioa HilrjBtagKvxx for Issoi within the Cornell*
But we did not waotit %〇 spell out the t̂ hl&g %〇〇 olos#ly
becaia e «e were oonvinoed that It nould be better for the oonrnmaH
to work out their ewn. speelflo plans* This• it seemed to
ust ipould make self-government mean more. But It is not
Impossible that na spelled out too mueh with the plan «e
did 1默y domi| or bavi&g gone a& flip 纛應ive did, that
It would have better to spell overythiag
to the very last detail*

ttAa I rethink the nhol# thing thro\ighf it saesui to 
me that we might have dtacx done one of tuo definite things and 
that our greatest error lfty la the fact that we did some thing 
In between* On one bandf we might bar deeldad that law and 
ord»r did aot fall育ithin tbo scope of eomrrmnity government 
at «ill# Aetttallyf of course# it dlda9t# because in every ease 
the ^roject ̂ irector must h&Te last say« I 戴m on6 idio 
thinks that law aad order eould have been omitted from the scop# 
of eomomnity government and that a satlsfoaetory eoxsonmlty 
governznsnt might have been setiaoc up without Iddimtebktabx

: ：Pr  e ? : r ； r r r r r ™ ^

that we diould have ape led out the entire csrganlsatioa in 
tbs grealflt detail*

*0a tha other band $ w« might have MKtU

eoznmunit7 gOYernment «itbout authority Xm  and order and
gi^sn it advisory funetlona, eomisuni cat ions ̂ social # reoreatlona：
and other spberes of 狼ction* This would have lieen more realistic
?n a ease* we could have left the organisation eompletely
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〇pe&f given the sere at suggestions, *nd let eaoh eonmmnlty 
work out its oi» organization*

^(b might have giwm the govermiaents law and ordd?
ftmetlons and spelled oixt a detailed orgftnlsation or «e might 
have abstraetsd law and order and let the eonsminttlea work out 
their on governaental destlsles* ve did neither and I 
ttm inclinsd to 食hink that there 冒敎8 oto> gz*«at68t oppoz*,11

ESSENHOiVEĤ S UTOPIA (®ho ^podueer eoopevfttlve idea)
0116kI Bisenho1ver# really^ nas the only man to

titethla Idea seriouslŷ  and be, uras eold on It even before he left# 
I folt, and X am sure almost evarybody else dldt serious 
doubts about the irtiole thing* Severtheless I had great

. ± r  r : i i r

respect for the mam. In the saeo^l plfteat I realised or
thcrugkt I did — • that he • himself • vas groping ia tli6
dark, that ha didn't think the thing would w〇rkf but that he
tho^ht It waa the only plan ̂ hat MI GOT reseue tha program from
doldrums that he saw abaad* ffeerefor© I couldn*t erack donn*
Eisenhower didn’t lik© the evaouation in tfce first place*
He was aiek tbmt he w&a forced to levy the Xov wage seale*
He didn't think the vage scale was fair but was forced to adhere
to them wik t>eeause of the foroe of public opinloax# So the
produeers* eooperative was simply a groping deviee to solve
纛 bad problem • Xe thought of It as a problem of aoelal
engineering, he knew th« pp〇dueerf8 eoop* was a bad derloe but
h# eXung to it mn something to work oa and to Impro'v** Beeause
of his dilesmâ  曹❹ eouldn*t tell him flatly it was no good •

Barrova bfts entered ftnd 10118 on the couoh like 
纛 Homan 知 必 tort fhllllp, you know dam well that
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that &11 of m  were just afraid to tell the boas what we tbotaght
of the id❹& t)6 6CU2«e 奮费  re纒p«cted him 應o much* But th« aasentlaX
p is that even diaoovered that It wotildn^ work after a
vary short t i m « It was fiLdmiulatratively imposaible, absolutely 
the most Amp〇88lbl« administrative thateotild be found* For

; : r ； r ; : ; r : : : :  ~ : : r : : : , : :

be oharged against the project# ware pretty ŵ ll agreed that 
epnstruetion eosts o<mM &〇t be Gbapg«d 戴gainst tb® project* ̂ ut 
how about the oofits of the administrative afilarlea?') Then 80819* 
body pointed out that those people on th© lands that were veil 
aubJugate d And that wotdld product would haT* a great advantage over 
thoae otm non-subjugated snd non prodmotlve soil* So w« tried to 
fihink throtagh an am&lg«aaatioii cf all the projects In on larga coop-

my Belt $ ®cmvirM5©(3 from i;b® v«ry fir 钃 t; tbe plfim nouid not
work for one slî >ld 3feaaont that ls9 It wa« imposaiblo for any mali&L** 
od to iDe s«t tip with any degree of hon想*rby that 響ould enabl纛 the 
projeot to #h〇fr any profit ^l&tsoever* 31011 Center霹曹0r©
expensive war babiea， Ho amo\mt of social «ng*n«©ring could 
bav❺ made them atoow ai profit for* d i e t o  «v»cue©a • | Incident̂  
ally# I am not At all sur« that Philip i» righ兔寶h©n bL❹ 《aya only 
Eiaeiahower was serlotwXy interested In the Utopia# I think Kiiamel 
and HoUand wer® definitely of tb» opialo» that the thing was fe»- 
slble. ICiimsel irfts ahaasiedl cf w ago sc龜16 (eap«olal3y sinee It 
had no clothissg allowance attached as it baa nd«). Ht wanted to
auppl•脚 n " h e  冒ago iritliaut;❹籯o i t l a g  p u blic w r a t h * ,  ia the s e c o n d

erative« But thin bAd a hundred thousand boles
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place, h® wanted to supply an incentive for the people to work*
did not; think fch6y •would wortc foi* auoli amall奪ages as h&d be«n

set up* I forgot to smtion amother reason iAij 1 objeeted so 
strongly to th« idea* I didn't only think that it vaa lmpo«0lbl6 

to mak# a profit and still vae &nj honest bookkkdeplng m«thodsf 
but I &各so thoû bt (and still think) that pecuniary motlTes are 
not tb« only ones that vill mke a person work# There Is an inatlnet 
for workmnahlp that# In the clrouxastanoes of the rolooation e€mterr 
siuet be amphasliRod, and which no amoudt of planning can g®t around#*1,

Clickt 黧 fha eidministrftkive prot)l9_ irere cmly cl small part of it. 
Tbltmm was absolutely no wayt that X eould se6g through î hida it 
would be legally possibla for \m to 86tvupf with g o v ^ m m n t  t m A n g  
a cooperative eaterpr5.se that would pay profit baek to the workers* 
This. I realised trcm the first# and no amount of eogitatlon on 

part would ®olve tbin# dlffloulty*

Grodslns} All agree &8 to tha suanary that $ if the emphasis on 
I*®8©t?t/X0SI6D 看 fiti6tifflA3e5-s indistrial projects from the ^ m U T B t then
it vas |$l0ealf legftlf tndl administritlve dlffloultles that made 
the producers1 eooparatlve impossible， The latter was dead# even 
'befcxre the emphasis upon resettlement*

G licki 0«K#f but note that as late as the U & j 29th atatemantf 
"Weasle words" were used in deserlbing possibility tbAt later re- 
mxmeratlon loe gi v m  to ^vaouees* Thla lrr龜tional proeeas in goir_ 
ernment well exepXifled even then^ I was sure# that the ^htole thing 
was no good*
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BISEHHCWEB AITD PUBLIC OPIHIOH

Barr oust rl have enever fi.en any administrator more sens itiv© to 
public opinion that Milton Eisenhower* Eisenhower resolved 
tically ev«ry problem In terms of public relations, Th« wgae 
policy, of蔘 course, is one of th© 1〇费8七 ĉ s«a in point* Some at的 id 
WFA administrator at %«usatiar ftnno\moad that we were considering the 
payment of WPA 曹ages to eva<mees* This# of course, creatad a tfa- 
ror# Actually# wo toad held practically no discussions at all 
about wage scales f Hevertheless# Mr* Elsenhower alaaost immediately 
IseueA a staemcnt to the effect that wages lower than aoldierS1 
wages qould be paid evacuees* The sole basis for this armoiance* 
ui®nt5 曹aa 你 © of puTt);JLo It» was a sliot; in IjIio dftrkit
but act\aally# it turned out to be a pretty good on«* The wages w©
a❹t;laterf In eonTormance to Mseiahoifeî s anncmnced policy • 曹《r© 
jusfc aTaoiit the beat 曹agoa we could have foural fey a aor© i n t O o ’
tu&l p3E*o©6SB« fii*® Ju®t about what w© can arfbrd̂  a.i»l
101»  families e〇m© out a lit tae too good• they 加 verlslieleasi are 
not designed so as to htnder on* peaettlement prograitt*̂

Mlgcallany
Clothing allowances are given only to workers and as r part of 

the public welfare program* They are therefore a part of wages f 
not subsistence* When added to exabsistenc©f clothing# plus tha cash 
wag68f amounts to ifti&t Earrows was talking about abovo#

Qllolc drew ub 9066 ̂ rom Eisenhower^ notes# »nd It waa adopted In
subetantlally the sftme form that he evolved, Th« Array added para* 
graph 10 only*
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Project SJngjlo^inent and Indefinite Leave
Most of the ¥̂ RA. officials were not, and a re not, interested 

in employment on the project level. They have been too busy with
other things. This goes for Eisenhower, Myer In his earlier
days, and --- most strangely of all, Holland, who was supposed
to be in charge if project employment. Nevertheless, 
in o\ir First Appropriation tarings we talked exclusively
about employment on the projects---relocation was not
mentioned once* Except for a preliminary statement that
contained only one p o l i c y ---that work m uld be a^9±±£iix supplied
to eveiybody who waa ted to work — we had no ideas dD out project 
employment, particularly* Administrative Instruction #27 was 
a lousy statement of a losuy, iiidefinite policy that we iiad*
エt was Fryer1 s idea to l^unp housing and anployment in one department 
and we, having no ideas of our own, just let it g) at that*
Th© Reduction of Project ianplojiaent

¥/e reduced the number of people who could hold jobs on 
the project, so far as I an concerned, 3q s k k h3Sx x  for the sake 
of better efficiency and for no other reason* In the days of 

WRA*s troubles, when we had strikes, sitdowns, etc, everybod||[ said 
that the trouble was caused by the fact that people were dissatisfied 
with a mximixm wage of $19«00t and that we had 七 o expect labor 
troubles• I have always been opposed to this idea that thepecuniary 
incentive is the only one that produces efficient work* I wrote 
a memo to the Director to this effect, recoimnending that project jm 
e^lymoit be tightened up all around, that superflkuous workers

be fired wlnerevey possible, and that where this created a pool

of idle workers, new jobs on new projects should be created*
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This, I think, was the first proposal to cut dovm on project 
employment. But my own ideas were sson perverted when the 
employment office boys pointed out that cutting down on project 

employment might have a xsxiasxx good effect on the leave 
program. So far as I am concerned (and I think the Director 
would go along with me on t M s )  the new order cutting project 
employment by some 30¢ was a move for better efficiency; on the
other hand, mariy people here 1hink thit firing people on theproftects 
will help relocation*
S ix  FINANCES

The cost of this program is staggering and disgraceful.
WRA is doing a damned economical job but the job, itself,趣 atx

will cost this nation a st 笔 goring sunu We had #8,000,000
む om the President1 s emergency fund. But we by no m eansspent all 
of this. F〇r our fir^ fiscal year, wereceived &x $70,〇〇〇,〇〇〇, and 
again we spent less than we received. Despite Senator Chao dler!s 
statemon t that we asked for #80,000,000 f〇r 〇ur ^  sec〇nd fiscal 
year (this made good head lines but was absolutely false), we 
asked for some #54,000,000 and, eEx except for a few cuts by 
the budget bureau and a #25,000 cut in traveling

in the HouseCommittee, we got exactly what
we asked f〇r. (0n the Senate fl〇〇r, Bridges 職 ㈣ セ。 此 〇 她

5 million off our appropriation and Chandler made aspeech in which 
he stupidly rakedus for not spending our complete appropriation 
in the previous year and the Sehate cut us the 5 million. But it 
was restored in conference.) In all (this from JOHN CLEAR) m a± aa.

WRA has spent from March 18,1942 to Jime 3 0 , 1943 (Includes

money from President»s emergency fmd) 157,157,236• 00. m xm m xK  

(This is cost of operations plus cost of land aquisition* To find
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total cost of evacuation up to June 30,1943, add all costs 
of army and cooperating agencies, including cost of basic 
construe七ion at WHA centers*

Ou t  second±icxxaixx fiscal year estimate to the 
budget bureau was made on the assumption that we would have 

107,000 people in the center throughout the fiscal year, despite th© 
fact that we hoped for a considerable savings through the resettlement 
program* We made our axtiai request in this fashoin because we 
were xincertain over the progress of the resettlement and with 
the pledge that w© would return as much money as possible, as 
we had at the end of 〇ur first fiscal year. The Budget Bureau 
made some downward revisions and we are paying for thdb now.

All the savings of* relocation are being eaten up by the cos七

of segregation. Whatever that great movement is actually wprth 
to the nation, it is costing the taxpayers somewhere
between 5 and 6 million dollarsi

You may see the proud boast of the WCCA that itboperated 
at th© cost of come |2*40 per evacuee per day* jfill of W R A ^

fiscalnactivities are based on oiir estimate afe that each evacuee 
day cost 參1.20*
POOD AND POINT RATIONING

When rationing was first being considered by OPA, Wfia 
knew it was in for a lot of headaches. OPA, early in the game, 
pointed out that we could live the easy life of an exempt purchaser 
if we could get a stetament fran the State Apartment to the 

effect that we were working xinder international commitmaits.

We could have easily have procured this statement but we chose the 
hard road of rationing. We all Thank God for that. Food
shortages andb warehouse space difficulties at the Anny
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le d  tonthe g re a t  overabundance o f food s to re d  a t  Heart Moimtain 

and the g re a t  s tin k  o f the Denver ? o s t*  A ctu a lly , the P〇s t* s  

a七ta ck  was based on two m iscon sp etion s, i« e « 9 in  the f i r s t  p lace  

the m isconception th a t  s to rag e  was the eq u ivelen t of consumption 

and the m isconception th a t s to rag e  smmx meant even FUTURE 

constunption* A ctu a lly , o f co u rse , ^ a r t  %>Tintain ittx  was not 

a t  the tim e, and did not co n terip late , usiiag a l l  the food sto red  

th ere*  Much of i t  was to  be shipped to  o th er WRA ce n te rs  and to  

army camps* N ev erth eless, Heart Mormtaln, though i t  had no more 

than a 60 day food supply a t  any tim e, a c tu a lly  had more than  

20 m illio n  blue p o in ts  on hand - - -  whereas the whole WRA now has 

le s s  than 19 m illio n * This could have c re a te d  an even worse 

s itu a tio n  them a c tu a lly  e x is te d , i f  the Post men iiad been smart 

enough to  fugure ifaaxaiaBxxx i t  out*

MISCELLANEOUS

Bendetsen wanted WRA to  take over th© Assembly ^enters  

(WPA continuing to  ad m in ister the camps, them selves) but WRA refused*  

Eisenhower was w illin g  to  g ive a l l  th© WPA people four month 

temporary C iv il S ervice  appointm ents, but refu sed  to  cr> mmit him self 

fo r  any more lengthy period* N icholson, ,fthe worst goddamned p o l i t i c a l  

d e a le r I  ever sawf,,  wanted to  be made Deputy D ire c to r  and to  l e t  

h is own gang run the G oiters* When Eisenhomer sa id  no, Nicholson  

walked out in  a huff*

Overcrowding people in  c e n te rs , e s p e c ia lly  G-ila, b efore  
the cons七ru c tio n  7/as f in ish e d , was due to  two f a c t s s One, Army-

engineers refu sed  to  put them selves on reco rd  b efore DeWitt 七0  the
e f f e c t  th a t t h ^  had not made th e ir  im possible d ead lin es} SeW itt,
h im self , was a deadline bug and refu sed  to  accep t e x cu se s . At G ila , 
an engineer lie u te n a n t refu sed  to  wire h eadquarters th a t  people 
should not be moved in  zkx because f a c i l i t i e s  were not ready*
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COMMUNITY G〇(^R1TMERT
Wheue a d m in is tra to rs  on a p r o je c t  v/anted a s s i s t a n c e  from the 

evacuees and encouraged th e  evacuees to  show an i n i t i a t i v e  in  t h e i r  

own problems, then the p r o j e c t  would get  an adequate and decen七 

s e l f - g ，vernmen七 imder way. UTier ê i however , the c h i e f  a d m in is t ra to rs  

wanted to  be o v e rsse rs  and make a l l  the d e c is io n s  th em selves , then 

no se l f -g o v e rn m e n t ' kx was evolved. Provinee th inks  i t  was p o s s ib le  

to have s e l 衮 一governmeri七 w ith in  almost any r e s t r i c t i o n s .  I t  was no七 

the l i m i t a t i o n s  of se lf-governm ent that made the±2m d i f f i c u l t  to  

s e t  up, r a t  her i t  was the a t t i t u d e  of the p r o j e c t  adminis t r a t i o  n »7

：：；：；：； ；：； «

anu c a s e , S ta f f o r d  was b o s s , N e v e r th e le s s , did c a l l  in  evacuees 

for  d is c u s s io n  and a meeting of minds *was f r e q u e n t ly  g a in e d .

S t a f f o r d  made a c laim 七h a t ,  though he had a u t h o r i t y ,  the r e s p o n s i ­

b i l i t y  for  u l t im ate  success  on any given is su e  remained with the 

e v acu ees• T h e r e f o r e , Provinse thinks^ th a t  S t a f f o r d  could have 

evolved a decent program and he has high hopes th a t  he w i l l  

evolve one now*

The dominance of I s s e i  in the e a r l y  org a n iz a t io n  a t  Manzanar made 

Provinse worried about the p o s s i b i l i t y  of I s s e i  p a r t i c i p a t i o n  

in  the C ou nci ls .  Though he was s k e p t i c a l  about the Ccunc3ils2J± 

of N ise i  o n ly , f,s in ce  they would have no "broad s o c i o l o g i c a l  b a s e , n 

lie n e v e r th e le s s  七hought the danger of  I s s e i  dimibnation v/as the 

g r e a t e r  •

f,The only place Yfcere s e l f  government would r e a l l y  work has been
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in  the co o p erativ es • Richardson h.as been a fin e  job here and 七be

: ; r : i ; ; : : r e successful despite dlfficultles

Only John Embree expressed any vocal doubts abou七 r e a l  re s is ta n c e s  

th a t might be met in  the r e g i s t r a t io n , Emtsree was e s p e c ia lly  skep­

t i c a l  over 七he idea of th e  Army that the r e g is t r a t io n  had to be 

ra p id ly  condlicted.

Junior co lle g e s  on 七Tie p ro je c t were considered and recommended, 

but they plans were not e a rr i ed through because of the l ik e ly  

unfavorable re a c tio n  of tfche p u b lic .

-WRA has embarked on a program of tra in in g  and re tra in in g  as a 

means of aiding re se ttlem en t under the d ire c tio n  of Kr. Sam ler, 

who form erly was with 七lie Nat i  n al Refugee Co n c i l  of New York •

WRAf s program c o n s is ts  o f :

1 , 01：1七 of school you七h aid* Fed eral funds given to  s ta te  fo r  
tra in in g  in such things as metal trad es • A good prdgram 
but lim ited  by s iz e  of fe d e ra l ap p rop riation  and by w illin g ­
ness of s ta te s  to  devote p a rt of funds to Jap an ese.

2. Q iick courses fo r  high school graduates in  stenography, 
ty p in g , e tc  • WRA fimds in c e n te r .

3 . An e lab o rate  ap p ren tice program. The employment s e c tio n  in
p ro je c t i s  tra in in g  people in  p ro je c t departments in  s k ille d  
j o b s -----m echanics, te a ch e rs  rn. nurses audes , e tc  • WHA funds-

4 . S ta te  V ocational T rain in g . Mostly a g r ic u ltu r a l*  V aries from 
s ta te  to  s ta te  in  r a t i o  to s ta te  funds and s ta te  w illingness*

In ad d ition  to  th ese 七here was:

5 .  NYA program # iich  blew up fo r reasons documents show.

6• Student R elo catio n  Council work* A l i t t l e  d if fe re n t  "but along  
七he same l i n e • The SRC is  going out of business in  about 
s ix  months•
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THE WORK CORPS

■̂■he Worksfc Corps was SiserLhower*
baby 

S ±̂t3£3L9

Page 1

and behind i t  were

the follow ing id e a s j

P sy ch o lo g ica lly 9 i t  was an idea of ©nlisteEint under 

the Comm ander-in-chief, as a neans dif making evacuees b e lie v e  they  

were a p a r t  o f a la r g e r  war e f f o r t  and o f indud ng them 七o 

work b e t te r  xmder g e n e ra lly  u n s a tis fa c to ry  con d ition s*

2 .  I t  was a lso  designed to  stren gth en  the hold of 

over the c o lo n is ts  tiirough a program of continued detention#  

V ^ u e ly , Eisenhower thought the work corps

would provide a s o c io lo g ic a l  s tr u c tu r e , w ithin which ia±gk±x a

3a® xiiixstru ctu re  might be & isx b u i l t ,  with, ran k s, a h ierarch y  

o f p o s itio n s , d is t in c t iv e  badges, e t c ,  © tc,

G-lick b e lie v e s  th a t the ork cor*ps id ea had scan© geniin©  

m e rit , but th a t i t  was #xx Hnot thought through with s u f f ic ie n t  

c a r e M and f,e s p e c ia lly , the adm inisti^ation o f i t  was very  

badly handled*n In the very f i r s t  p la c e , the work corps

provides a n ith e r example o f an idea th a t f a i le d  (c f  

00 1nmunity government J xeshxx because the adminiab ra tio n

were hot so ld  on i t s  f e a s i b i l i t y .  Tom Holland was the w orst o ffen d er.

^Bblland was in te re s te d  in  P ro je c t  Employment, he th e re fo re  was

not in te r e s te d  in  the Wrk Corps id e a , and th e re fo re  he d e lib e ra te ly

sabotaged the whole th in g .11 A ctu a lly , the Work C6rpS was

not given any adequate chance to  work because of the fa u lty

way i t  was f i r s t  adm inistered* I t  might have worked, i f

i t  had been d n ce re ly  t r ie d  and adequately ad m in istered .

The enlistem net form was badly drwan up and when the f i r s t  en listm ets  

f a i le d  in  th e Assembly C enters (p a r tly  through la ck  of coop eratio n
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REGISTRATION

1* There was no idea of using answers on registration forms
fo r  the purposes o f segreg ation * No gzKadkxx tro u b le  afc a l l  was 

a n tic ip a te d , as a m a tte r  o f fsc, t 9 and th e re fo re  no d ata fo r  

seg reg atio n  was a n tic ip a te d .

2 * The id ea o f re g is te r in g  fo r  leave c learan ce  with  

army r e g is t r a t io n  was ju s t  a convenient method of k i l l in g  

two b ird s with one s to n e .

^he above are  " o f f i c i a l  answers'1 to  the two questions

th a t I  put to  G lick . ^ALTOGETHER UNOFFICIALLY11 G lick s a id ：

1« The # io le  mess of r e g is t r a t io n  is  most d i r e c t ly  a t tr ib u ta b le

to  the lousy ad m in istra tiv e  methods of Tom Holland - -  na man th a t

エ l ik e  and admire x3to±xx emmensely but c e r ta in ly  the worst

ad m in istra to r th a t エ ever met in  my l i f e . n Holland, fo r example,

made no o b je c tio n  to  quesb ions 27 and 2 8 , though i t  was he

th a t reviewed the forms which were drawn up by the army (from

forms th a t Holland, h im self , had made out fo r  the e a r ly  leave

cle a ra n ce s*  fu r th e r , Holland did not send the forms to  the le g a l

department o f WRA fo r  c learan ce*  Glick i s  p o s itiv e  th a t "one of the

law yers11 wbuld have pickedup the im p o ssib ility  o f the questions

and na t l e a s t  brought the problem up a t  a s t a f f  m eeting.*1 uAs

i t  was, however, Holland did everyth ing p r a c t i c a l l y  in  secrecy * He

didn*t keep us informed, he did not allow  any check on the work

he was doing, he kept me in  the JiiM/k de l ib e r  at e ly , エ th in k , and

Myer in  the dark p u rely  as the r e s u lt  of ad m in istra tiv e  s lo th n e s s ."

% e r ,  h im self , i s  somewhat to  blame, G-Uck t  inks (who re a d ily

admits h is  own share of c u lp a b ility )  fim iax  fo r  not in s is t in g

on g re a te r  accu racy  and frequency in  H ollandfs re p o rtin g , and e s p e c ia lly  
fo r  not in s is t in g  th a t the verb al agreem oit w ith S e le c tiv e  S ervice
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be pnt in  w ritin g . r,Ho lawyer would ever have p u lled  a t r i c k  lik e  

th a t •f,

2 * Once they had axi±®Et±vB^5d'ffifcsK： c o l le c 七ed d ata  

suitabl©  fo r  s o g p o g a t i i o i i e v e n  "blioxigli they re a liz s d  much, of

came as the real I t  o f ad m in istra tiv e  b lim ders, i t  was decided

to  use 七he d ata • n^e have g±-c*nx taken every e f f o r t  to  kacxcx  

c o r r e c t  our ad m in istra tiv e  m istak es, and to  give those people 

angered by those m istakes to change th e ir  minds. Ae admit our 

m istakes to  o u r s e l v e s ,七ry  to make amends, but th a t  i s  a l l  we
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(BAD INTERVIEW: Myer in terriip ted  fre q u e n tly ; h is  r e c o l le c t io n  bad
a t  p o in ts .)  ^  1  ( ]

NOTE: Get C ongressional Record, Oct* 8 , *43, Statem ents o f  E l l i o t t  
o f C a lifo rn ia , Rankin, and E b e rlia rte r, pp# 8286-90*

The Plan nCn l e t t e r *  I t s  leak  was a n tic ip a te d  by Myer but he does 

not think th is  had much to  do with the Congressional in v e s tig a tio n s ,  

the upsurgeof i n te r e s t  on the p a rt  o f 七he Congressmen, o r the t r ip  

E a st by ^6〇na.rd Read of "fcli© Los Angel6s C• of 〇• Stim sonts 

l e t t e r  o f May 1 0 ,1 9 4 3  (then not found — now we have copy) was V *
in  re p ly  to  the ^lan  uc n l e t t e r  an d it made Myer mad* We have 

both d ra f ts  of the rep ly  and i t  i s  n otab le as the sh arp est response  

ev er made by WRA to the ai^iy*

The Congressmen

When Myer f i r s t  came to WRA, Eisenhower took him over 

to  meet with 七he 3ub~commi七七ee» " I t  wag the moist 七errdlDle

m eeting エ e v er a■七tended*11 F〇x»d shouted and cussed (洗 th a t s p e c if ic  

momen七 in  opposi七ion to oo l ie g e  re lo c a tio n )  and Myer immediately

saw that 乜isen]10wei* had made agreat mistake to ever meet with that
group, and he reso lv ed  never to go back ag ain , never d id .

CHAUBLER COMMITTEE* j^rer doesn*t know the exac七 genAsus of the  

Chandler in v e s tig a tio n  but he has stron g reasons to  b eliev e

th a t the ^ h aillau x  group o f the Americsdi "^egion were p rim arily  

resp on sib le  fo r  g e ttin g  the Vtfilgreen b i l l  in troduced  and the Chandler 

subcommittee c o n s titu te d . M^ev heardjsx about i t  f o r s t  ju s t before  

he was leavin g  fo r  h is  January fie lS . t r i p .  He was brusquely to ld  

to  appear fo r  a hearing on the Walgreen b i l l *  Myer wanted to  d efer  

h is  appearance u n t i l  a f t e r  h is  t r ip  but "Chandler was very  n a s ty 11 

and he liad to  change h is f ie ld  t r ip  p la n s . The b i l l ,  i t s e l f ,  

was not a t  a l l  d iscu ssed  a t  the hearing ( t r a n s c r ip t  has been p r in te d .)
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but everybody t r ie d  to  g et a l o t  of a n ti-Jap an ese  tu f f  in to  

the record  and Iviyer was very disappointed th a t  he was given  but 

very l i t t l e  chance to s tra ig h te n  th in gs out#

Chandler said  he wanted to  v i s i t  the ce n te rs  teyx and he 

agreed th a t he would time h is  xifeilakbx v i s i t s  so as not to 

in te r f e r e  with r e g i s t r a t io n , a lso  wanted Myer 七o go with him

and Myer agreed . Suddenly, however, handler turnedup in  

L〇s Angeles (he had "bean v is i t in g  M s movie s ta r  d au g h ter), and 

announced he was going to s t a r t  h is  v i s i t s *  Malone, the  

c h ie f  Chandler* in v e s tig a to r , was very a g ita te d  and c a lle d  Myer

to  apologize fo r  the whole th in g • Chandler went to  Manzanar with
two FBI men (who had made a r e s ts  in  the camp p re v io u s ly )and Malone, 

h is  w ife , accompanied by two ar^ay o f f ic e r s  as gu ard s, M erritt

wrote Myer a p erson al l e t t e r  d escrib in g  th is  v i s i t  th a t Myer has

Mdiien aw ay.. S u b sta n tia lly  i t  s a y s : every time Chandler got two

people to g e th e r he made a speech; he damned the god damned japs lou d ly ;

Mrs Chandler was obviously scared  to  death and would not:u l e t  the

armed o f f ic e r s  g e t more than an an a ’ s d ista n ce  away多 pne  of

the o f f i c e r s  had borrowed a gun a t  Lone Pine a t  ^rs C h a id le r^

in s is te n c e • Mrs Chandlers sa id  a t  one p p in t in  earsh o t o f se v e ra l  

evacuees th a t "as f a r  as エ am concerned]]!, yon could take the 

whole bunch of them and drown them in  the P a c if ic * * ’

Chandler kept h is  mouth shut sfc Manzanar, probably  

because M e rritt  refu sed  to  g ive him r e g is t r a t io n  real I t s  because 

they were ^incom pletef,# Chandler t r ie d  to browbeat an army leu ten an t  

a t  “one Pine to  give iiim th is  d a ta , but he was u n su cce ssfu l. Through

Washington, however, he was given the f i r s t  r e s u lts  (which 

c o n stitu te d  a double cro ss  of Myer by the Washingio n army o f f ic e )  

and i t  was a t  P〇s t 〇n th a t Chaa d le r  popped o f f  so loudly about 

the very high p ercentage o f d is lo y a l japs*
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When Ghai d ie r  l a t e r  cameout fo r  a program of re le a s in g  

lo y a l ^apanese， and when i t  became apparant th a t  MaedbKx Mai one 

was doing serio u s in v e s tig a tin g  ra th e r  than devoting h im self f u l l  

time to  smearing WRA, the C hailloiix leg io n  group became very  d is s a t is  

fied *  Out o f th is  d i s s a t i s f a c t io n , Myer i s  convincedthat the D ies- 

Cos七e l lo  in v e s tig a tio n  came. C o ste llo  was in te re s te d  in  

a smearing job and nothing e l s e • We have a good documentation  

on the whole Dies b u sin ess•



Interview with John Burling, asistant to Edward ®nnis, 
October 13,1943 

Grodzins

The meeting was in  the nature of a rapprocheirint with. Burling  
follow ing a misunderstanding via l e t t e r  during the past y e a r ,
Though the m isunderstanding, i t s e l f , 屯as not mentioned a t  a l l  
Burling obviously ap p reciated  the senitmesn ts  and talked  f r e e ly  fo r  
more than an hour, in  ad d itio n  to  showing me some f i l e  da七a .

1 . Af t er  the widely p u b licized  FBI r a id , in  the s p r in t  of 1942, 
there wace g reat d iffe re n ce s  of opinion between W estern defense Com 
man and Jus七ice  lepartm ent as to  the _ s ig n ifica n ce  of the r a id ,  
and of the contraband c o l le c te d . 七t  and M arshall wanted
everybody who was caught with con七rstband in te rn e d , ir r e s p e c tiv e  
of in te n t ac of any linkage be去ween the contraband and p ossib le  
danger to  in te rn a l s e c u r i ty . DeWitt sold  th is  idea to  M arsh all, 
who in  turn got a f七er R o o sev elt, who in  turn  ordered the S o l ic i to r  
General (Biddle out of town) to follow  M a rsh a ll^  recommendation*
An order was issued and chaos follow ed, People were detained  
fo r  having fla s h  丄 igh 七 s -， Red Cross medais, rus 七 y p i s t o l s ,  e t c * ,  e t c , 
Biddle came back and was convinced by 七he AL ien  Enemy Unit of the 
ab su rd ity  of 七he whole th 5.ng. A corps of lawyers was se t 七〇 worlc 
an alyzin g the cases of t^iose interned.. The r e s u lts  were lu d icrou s * 
An a l ie n  woman (Germs-n in th is  c a s e ) being d etain ed , fo r  example , 
be cause she bad in  her 甚s s  possess ion the sword of he r  husband, 
which hebhad re ce iv e d  upon his graduation from A nnapolis; a Jap ­
anese was in tern ed  because the FBI man d iscovered  th a 七 M s rad io  
had a sh o rt wave band s t i l l  working, even tTaough 七he man presented  
in c o tro v e rtib le  evidence to  dem ocstrate th at he had. paid to have 
the sh ort wave band removed. Such cases were very numerous .

2« Even J . 5 . Hoover, on Kay 5 , 1942 , wrote a memorandum advocating  
extreme taaghness with those caught wi七h contrabanci and a broad 
in te r p r e ta tio n  of what contraband oon sisted  o f .

3* A ttached is  a memo w ritte n  by Burling and Snnis f  or* Biddle f s 
sig n atu re  ^..ich points out a l丄the a b su rd itie s  ■ of the tremendously 
pub丄ic iz e d  FBI ra id s*  This is  an im portant document, even though 
i t  was probably never sen七 to  the P re s id e n t, エ七 shows, th s七 d e stp ite  
the tremendous load th a t Hoover c o lle c te d  in  h is ra id  th a t f,W© 
have not • • . uncovered through these search es any dangerous 
p erson , th at we cou丄d no七 otherw ise know a b o u t,”

4 . U n fortu n ately , the casep&x d igested  were never tab u lated  
s t a t i s t i c a l l y  be cause the p o licy  奴as changed before th a t was 
n e ce ssa ry . I t  might be a good idea fo r  us to  t r y  to  get the d i ­
gest so th a t  we ccoila tab u la te  them o u rse lv e s .
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Relocation and L iftin g  Blanket Exclusion Ord^rs 

Ux

Mr, M« Has written a detailed memo* for the f i le s  which 

gives the history of the negotiations about the return to the 

coast* This doc\iment, with the actual oorrespondm ce available  

to me in the f i l e s f w ill  provide a "well documented story*n 

Generally;

1 # The Secretary of War and the Attorney Genei*al (with 

concurrence of General Bonesteel on coast) agreed to the l i f t ­

ing of mass exclusion early in summer of 194^*

2* Things$ generally*! were wSQtw and even Acting Secretary 

of State S tettin iu s had given his approval. Then the "p o litic a l  

advisors1* of thePresident got busy on the t  ing and on June 12 

or thereabouts the President wrote to Stlmson axytagx a general 

le tte r  sajdng that the time was not propitious and that the 

idea of scattering Jppanese througliout the country was a good

one*

3# A ll the press releases that had b en prepared and 

thex speeohes that had been written thereupon liad to be put 

away#

4* 物 ^g V/HA (speaking through Abe Fortas, undersec 

of Interior) engaged in a b rief controversy with War Depft*  

res interpretation of P resid en ts letter^ WRA holding that i t  

had not ruled out some relocation to coast and some publicity  

about that retxirn through army channells. But aimy had it s  

way* going on with individual permits and WRA taking rap 

in subsequent regional protests*

5. Firs cabinet meeting a fte r  election , ICkes#

Stimson and Biddle gi>t FDRfs approval for return# Discussion
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started by Biddle who was positive that detention p olicy was 

unconstitutional and who said that i f  Administration 

wouldn’ t  start the return on controlled basis, a Supreme Court 

decision might stairt I t  uncontrolled.

6 « Big controversy im e d la te ly  arose Army against 个 

WRA (Interior) and Justice. Latter wanted Amy to announce 

return and wanted no further processing of evacuees - 一  with 

continued detention or continued exclusion for ONLY those 

denied leave by* WRA.« Then• was WRA plan, to jo: re-process those 

denied leave• espe«ially expatriates and repatriates.

7# Anpy refused at act on th is basis, General

Wilbur (second in command to Pratt on coast) In sistin g that
Western

mass of records collected by m astw rk D e fe n s e  Command be u tilize d  

ta  财 h M x  to exclude same iTapanese and to detain others

without regard for WRA leave clearance. Issue hot and 

tossedcaroun成 for number 0¢ days• Then (Ma comment: here*s

the big error made \>y WRA.) WRA agreed to army proposal---- since

i t  was believed th is was the only way to get Army to carry 

public relations burden for the entire program. Wilbur promised 

the maximum number to  be detained or excluded would be 5f〇〇〇#

Myer opposed in principle but had to agree that th is number 

would not mess up h is administrative plan to liquidate his 

agency,

8 * Will get exact numbers of detainees and exoludee日 

la te r . Repatriates not included. 3*361 at Tule excluded, of 

which 2.660 detained•へ Bigg©日t  lieadaclie, many on anay l i s t  

of both exoludees and detainees were persons in WRA centers already 

given leave clearance or actually out of centers on indefinite  

leave» Army reluctan tly promised not to serve taose already 

out with detention notices (naxtsz (this wxamxxx ^even more i l le g a l



Interview with DS Myer 1/22/45 p« 3

tlian holding Japanese in centers) but w ill  rpooeed to serve 

individual exclusion orders on them.

9 . ISyer angry about whole arHiy stand# Thinks Its  

program linnecessary and unnecessarily gtoalng up the v;orks#

He does not know basis of Anayfs l i s t s !  but thinks they are 

put together by running IBM dards through machinesf and to ta llin g  

a rb itra rily  such weighted factors as education in Japan, No No 

answers, repatriation requests, FBI reports, eto« I f  to ta l  

nscore" reaches certain point• that person eith er detained 

or excluded« This w0ann©dn system Myer thinles is

nonsense • ViTilbur i 日 boy In日i s t a n t  on program and Wilbur 

is  fltrei&0ndously impressedn with big room f u ll  of oards put 

together by ITeil日on and Myer on West; Coast •

10* J r̂er also does not lik e  theJustice Depft  renunciation 

of citizenship law* He was not consulted about I t  at a ll*

H© thinks renunciations may p ile  up in same manner and for  

same reasons as th© NO No answers during registration* He 

esp ecially  tried to  get the JD to hold o ff procedures

for allowing renunciation u n til a fter  thepresent crisis*  but 

JD worried about i ts  own Congressional relations and Insisted  

on proceeding. Myer s t i l l  hopes to get Burling out of Tule Lake 

at ea rlie st possible moment*

A ll th is  received In short time  ̂ Will examine documents 

and get more satisfacto ry iaKfex inte view on th is  sp ecific  

problem before I  leave Wash* Also w ill  interrogate Myer re? 

what v/ill happen i f  people refuse to leave camps.
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TMs interview was prim arily for the purpose of allowing 
history of the

me to  c lear up the gaps in the/revokation of mass exclusion, and my 

notes on the docxanents themsleree re fle c t what I  learned. As fo r other 

m atters：

Resegregation

Myer was always opposed to the idea of moving people out of  

Tul© Lake under pressure from the §ro-Japanese yx eloaent and his ideas 

are reflected  in a memo, frcan I  ekes to Hull on the matter* On the other 

hand, Myer pointed out tliat a rath er thorough going resegregation i s

now going o n ---- "though in the opposite d ire ctio n .tt ^hat is  to say,

The Ju s tice  Department is  now moving considerable numbers of people out 

of Tule. By the end of th is  week, almost a thousand expatriates and 

aliens with ti^ublesome project records w ill have been sent to Ju s tice  

Department alien  entemment centers* Eventually, the fam ilies of these 

people w ill join thaa* I f  the Ju stice  D©pft  tiien moves other centers

a l l  those persons now on the army detention l i s t s ---- Tule Lake w ill be

l e f t  with a residue Wwe can work jpe -with." Maybe, M, Thinks, many o f these 

w ill be relo cated .

Ju stice  department Pressure to Keep Centers Open

Myer i s  d efin itely  set on th is  topic and is  more positive  

in his stand tiian on adk any other subject Etkirodaiiptaac about whicb エ have 

talked to  Mm. He says lie w ill not btifige an inch. He is detemined to 

close out the centers as per schedule. I f  he f a i l s ,  that i s  his resp onsib ility , 

he says* But he w ill not announce a refuge program* I f  the Ju stice  Department 

wants to administer such a program, he is  w illing to step down* I f  

the Ju stice  Department ca rrie s  such a program over his head (e ith e r  through 

I  ekes or the -President) and he is  overruled, then lie w ill resign* He is  

convinすed the closure policy is  k "best fo r the evacuees and for the nation”
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He is* in cid en tally , unconvinced of the cogency of the Ju s tice  department's

argument， i  e”  th at the closure policy w m  provoke new waves of

citizensM p renunciation. He is  more concerned with 1 ) the Ju s tice  êptts.

sudden in te re st in accepting rem m ciationS and 2) the procedures by wMch

tke Ju s tic e  Depa37tment w ill review the cases of citizen s slated fo r detention 

under the army set-up. He fe e ls  th at imless these detainess are given

an lumiediate review of tiie ir  cases, the in ju stices  involved may provoke a

wave of *a**tx  XBBiBaawrtateiMEsiaaHttHam resisten ce to relocation  and 

maybe even citizenship remmeiations in centers other than Tule. He therefore  

i s  pushing the Ju s tice  Dep(t to  in s titu te  immediate procedures to  re®xamine

the citizen  d e ta in e e s---- and especially  those who are making relocation plans*

Further Amy Disas^reejnent s

The docm ents, of course, are tuil of th is , Myer is  now fuming 
, Southern
"because the revocation of exclusion from the 〜 stem  and 敢 踩 83® Defense

C _ a n d s  lias not yet been anno皿 ced —• and this is impeding the relocation
also specified exclusion

program. Original individual exclusion orders/jaddooi labxl$xe3ra*a»e from 

^astern and Southern Coasts. -American Civil L ib erties  Union protested  

vehement^Iy (have document) and Aemy reversed i t s e l f .  This more than

th ree weeks a g o ---- and public announcement not yet made. This makes

Myer (ju s tifia b ly ) mad*

Myer on Segregation

As an "adm inistrative confession", the D irector of Ms own 

in itia t iv e  said h© wanted to  *t611 me what 1118 greatest werro rw had been 

during his admirListratioii of the WRA pro运ranu I紅 his opinion i t  was

undertaking the segregation program* Itabxbx Myer said he thinks lie coiild hav e 

withstood outside pressure (from Army Dies CoBaaittee, etc) but i t  was 

impossible fo r him to stand up against his project d irecto rs who were 

unanimous in in sistin g  on the necessity  for segregation. Myer blames no-one

but himself. But "with hindsight" he thinks segregation would have been 

avoided, that by doing so tlie relocation program would not necessarily  have
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suffered, end that 1;110usands of yo皿 g Nisei would not have been "caught" 

as they WBSBKt have een at Tuie Lak:e* wFrani the standpoint of the evacua^s 

and the nation, segregation was my greatest mistake. The only thing I  

w ill have le f t  on my consience when th is  thing is  over is  the 

plight of the youngsters at Tule ^ak©*"

In coparison to  segregation, Myer thinks the errors of reg istra tio n  

were "adm inistrative and ta c t ic a l  rather than strategic.** Segregation, 

ho ever, f a l ls  in the category of s tra te g ic  erro rs , he believes* I f  

any considerable niamber of people are & "saved" from 1xiXe Lake, Myer 

thinks even the Brror of segregation may be reduced in consequence. "But 

01117 the history of the next year w ill t e l l  whether we succeed here*"

On Irreloeatab les

I put the question bluntly: wWhat w ill you do on next January
and i f

•when/you have several thousand persons s t i l l  unrelocated.*"

Ityer answered —  Similing but very serious： "We just won’ t

have anybody in the centers a year from now---- except those detained by

the Ju s tice  Department following Army recommendations. The VilRA is  going

out of taretvx the center business a year from now. We believe we Tgtw have

a p a rctica i plan to relocate  and take care of every single person e lig ib le  to

leave* We are putting thos e plans in e ffe c t. We are convinced
detemined to liv e  up to

of th e ir  p r a c itic a li ty  and we are AKtekrtiiMBixifaagniinjrirarar our announced goal*

Grodzins: But what i f  you do have people le f t?

Myer: wWe wonft  have. We can’ t  have* We have 110 provisions for

them. We have no altern ativ e  plans. We are out to empty the c« ite rs  — becaise

i f  we don, t  do i t  now we w ill nerer do i t .  T iere i s  nothing else to  do

and there are absolutely no plans to do anything else* Once we convince

the center populations th at we are set in th is  respect - - -  and w e a r e —

then I think we w ill get th e ir  cooperation 84d closures w ill move forward 
on schedule. In the final analysis, bk there just won»t be a WRA and there just 
wont be anything else ite for the people to  do except leave. There w ill be 
hardships and suffering, of course, but i t  is  small when compared to what 
w ill ensue i f  we don*t adhere to thw closure policy. I w ill have no part In
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creating a reservation population* I refuse to make plans fo r such a 

contingency* Closiore is  the ploicy and there are absolutelu no altern atives

to  th at polic|r


